CONTENTS

Educational Principles	3
Objectives	3
A Bennington Education: Capacities	4
Academic Freedom	6
Statement on Pluralism, Inclusion, and Equity	7
Open Access	
Faculty Appointments and Reappointments	
Overview	
Appointments to the Faculty	
Shared and Split Faculty Positions	
Faculty Emeritus	
Reappointment to the Faculty: Faculty Performance Review Policy and	
Procedures	11
Faculty Policies and Procedures	
Responsibilities of College Faculty	
Faculty Searches	
Office Assignments	
Absences from Campus and Classes	
Organization of the College	
Statement on Shared and Faculty Governance	
Faculty-Elected Committees	
Academic Policies Committee	
College Steering Committee	
Faculty Performance Review Committee	
Faculty Review Appeals Committee	
Faculty Committee On Grievances	
Provost and Dean-Appointed Committees	
Academic Technology Committee	
Administrative Review Committee	
Committee on Research with Human Participants	33
Curriculum Planning Committee	
Judicial Committee	
Production Committee	35
President-Appointed Committees	35
Safety Committee	
Land and Building Use Committee	35
Sustainability Committee	
Faculty Support and Development	
Paid Leaves	
Sabbatical Leave	
Early Sabbatical	
Non-Teaching Term Leave	

Unpaid Professional Leave of Absence Policy	38
Supplemental Support for Research During Sabbatical or Leaves of Absence	39
The Office of the Provost and Dean Faculty Grants	
External Grant Preparation Procedures	41
The Kensinger Meeting	42
Family and Medical Leave Policy for Faculty	44
Faculty Spouse/Partner Support and Family Privileges	
Budget Process	
Reimbursement for Meals and Travel for Faculty	
Crossett Library Resources for Faculty	
Academic Policies and Procedures	
Evaluating Student Work	
Faculty Course Evaluations	
Tutorials	
Co-Teaching Guidelines	
FERPA Information for Faculty	
Academic and Artistic Ethics Policy	
Copyright Policy	
Disability Accommodations	
Field Trip Guidelines	
Short-Term Study	
General College Policies	
Benefits Information.	
Workers' Compensation Notice and Procedures	
Campus Safety	
Vehicle Operation and Parking Regulations	
Drug-Free Workplace	
Smoking Policy	
Weapons Policy	
Inclement Weather Policy	
Financial Whistleblower Policy and Procedures	
Pet Policy	
Sexual Misconduct, Sexual Harassment, Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, ar	
-	
Stalking Policy Nondiscrimination Statement	
Americans with Disabilities Act.	
College Communication Services and Equipment	
Jury Duty Leave	
Educational Opportunities	
Campus Housing Policy	
College Driver Policy	
Exhibitions of Art on Campus	
Reserving Spaces on Campus for Events	77

Handbook Review	
Procedures	77

EDUCATIONAL PRINCIPLES

Objectives

Bennington College is a four-year liberal arts college offering programs of study leading to a Bachelor of Arts degree. In addition, the College offers Master of Fine Arts degrees in dance, music, and writing as well as a post baccalaureate certificate in premedical and allied health sciences.

In 1932, Bennington was founded on the belief that the education most worth having is the one you create for yourself. The College does not require students to fulfill a set of ready-made requirements; instead, it challenges them to discover their own intellectual identity and to design an education that will help turn them into the person they hope to become.

The College's faculty plays a crucial role in this process of transformation. At Bennington, faculty members do what they teach, and students put their learning into practice. Students learn about literature from authors who write and publish it, in the same way that they learn choreography from dancers who create and perform their own work. Physicists and philosophers and playwrights teach at many other colleges, but typically, they ask their students to do very different work from the kind they do themselves. At Bennington, students don't just learn about biology – or poetry, history, or anthropology – from their teachers; they also practice it along with them. Because both students and teachers actively engage in the work at hand, the relationship between them is richly collaborative, and students often participate in the research and creation of faculty work.

Designing a Bennington Education: The Plan

At the same time that Bennington students learn to design experiments, write essays, and compose music, they also learn to take responsibility for planning their own educations. Through regular meetings with their teachers – who are also their advisors – students design an education with breadth and depth, unified and fueled by their own passions.

Students are challenged throughout their time at Bennington to explore questions that matter to them and to pursue their curiosities wherever they lead. Rather than focusing on a single field, they often design Plans that connect a range of subjects. By writing and rewriting their Plans of study – and by discussing evolving ideas with faculty planning committees – students design, chart, and defend their education. Throughout this process, students confront not only the choice of which courses to take, but the question of what a real education should be. They learn what it means to discover and pursue their own intellectual identity and how to replace imposed discipline with self-discipline.

During their first year, students experiment with a range of courses in various disciplines – listening for what makes their pulses race, trying to understand more clearly what matters most to them. In their second and third years, students immerse themselves in particular disciplines and delve more deeply into their intellectual and artistic passions. Students start their last year at Bennington by exploring the ways in which their own disciplines relate to others and considering how their deepening understanding of a subject or a craft or a question might matter to the rest of the world.

In their final year at Bennington, students may complete a culminating project – ranging from an extended essay to a research project, voice recital, visual arts portfolio, or poetry translation. The project allows students to bring together the discoveries they have made in the course of their concentrated work in a discipline or set of disciplines, and to perform publicly the expertise they have developed. But the completion of a culminating project is not meant to mark the end of an education; instead, students are challenged to frame their focused knowledge within its larger contexts – to return to the kind of open-ended exploration they pursued at the beginning of their college careers.

Learning in the World: The Field Work Term

Each academic year consists of three terms: two 14-week, on-campus terms during the fall and spring and a seven-week winter term of field work off-campus. During the Field Work Term, academic classes are suspended while students take their interests to the world beyond the College, where they work at jobs and internships in fields that complement their studies, clarify their interests, and open possibilities for their futures. The Office of Field Work Term helps students find meaningful work experiences in areas ranging from publishing to politics, from arts administration to teaching. Students' written reflections and employer evaluations are used to assess each student's experience. After spending four terms at work in the world, each student graduates from Bennington with a résumé as well as a diploma.

Through these annual explorations of the world outside the College, students gain a network of professional contacts. They also learn to take their work and themselves more seriously – to think of themselves no longer simply as students, but also as scientists, photographers, artists, or writers.

A Bennington Education: Capacities

Central to Bennington's founding vision is the belief that a dynamic, relevant education is best achieved when students themselves define its direction. We believe that as a result of such purposeful self-reliance, students take with them when they graduate not only what they have learned but also how they have learned it.

This process assumes that meaningful learning works best when rooted in a student's ever-expanding curiosity, rather than being dictated by institutional paths. We believe that when students, in consultation with faculty, design the content, structure, and sequence of their curricula, internal sources of order replace external templates. In this way education prepares students to direct their lives toward the self-fulfillment and constructive social purposes to

which the College has long been committed. The core educational structures of the College – such as the Plan process, the Field Work Term, and advising – are continuously reviewed and adapted in support of these aims.

During their time at Bennington, students design their own course of study, taking full advantage of the College's varied resources both inside and outside of the classroom. Students identify one or more areas of interest that spark their intellectual curiosity and provide a foundation for their academic work. The role of the faculty in the dialogue that points towards the fulfillment of the student's own goals is to help the students refine, broaden, and deepen both their inquiry and the work they do within it. Education at Bennington is necessarily integrative and holistic: inquiries can be pursued, and capacities developed, by way of the curriculum, the Field Work Term, and relevant residential and co-curricular experiences.

A Bennington education will demonstrate that a student has developed, through iteration and self-reflection, and in increasingly sophisticated ways, several fundamental capacities: to construct a course of inquiry; to perform research; to create and revise work; to engage with others; and to communicate their work to the world. Each of these capacities intertwines with, and builds on, the others.

Throughout their time at Bennington, students will progress in their capacity to:

Inquire: As students formulate questions to advance their studies they define and refine a clear line of inquiry that elucidates the unknown while questioning the known. Students learn to assess the breadth and depth of their studies, and to approach question(s) with an open mind. They learn to gauge a scope of work that is feasible in terms of their time, resources, and skill level. This process of inquiry allows them to gain confidence in taking appropriate risks when examining and analyzing relevant issues and questions.

Research: Students expand their knowledge through active, self-determined investigation, learning the steps needed to master a topic, and to distinguish deep research from surface familiarity. They test hypotheses by using methodologies appropriate to their questions and fields, from observing, reading, interviewing, and experimentation, to documenting, prototyping, data mining, and surveying. They gain flexibility and responsiveness, crossing disciplinary boundaries, and allowing multiple perspectives to guide them. Students situate their research within broader cultural and historical contexts, and reach new conclusions, confirm existing theories, or expand on the research of other scholars.

Create: Students make and revise original work, develop new ways of understanding, and engage in generative and critical problem-solving, often in collaboration with others. Creating work requires both imagination and rigor, as well as the willingness to take risks. Revision is understood to be an inherent aspect of the creative process, to make the work the strongest representation of the inquiry and subsequent research underlying its creation.

Engage: Students participate in a community of learning, both in the classroom and in the world beyond. In their campus life, students share their work in performances, publications,

peer feedback, critiques, presentations, or other mechanisms. Through individual and collaborative experiences inside and outside the classroom, students develop values of respect, empathy, and personal and social responsibility. Shared experiences and explorations, by way of field work, student governance, or public action also connect students to both local and global communities. In strengthening these capacities, students see that collaboration and community engagement make work that is more than the sum of its parts.

Communicate: Students learn to express their ideas with clarity and effectiveness, and learn to listen and respond to the voices of others. Communication unites even the most solitary work of thinking, inquiring, investigating, and creating with the outside world, making all work a social act, an act of participation that directs students to a variety of constructive social purposes. Whether a dance or a biological study or a musical composition or an historical analysis, ultimately the student's work must be shared, communicative, legible, and capable of being received by others.

Academic Freedom

Preamble

As an institution dedicated to learning and teaching, Bennington College is committed to the principle of free expression and exploration of ideas in an atmosphere of mutual respect and civility. Like other freedoms, academic freedom requires both the assumption of risk and responsibility. The College recognizes that the free play of ideas, with all its attendant controversies, is indispensable to the act of discovery and to the dissemination of knowledge. However, just as the freedom to act carries with it the responsibility for those actions, the freedom to express ideas carries with it an attendant responsibility and accountability.

In the College, as in society as a whole, freedom of speech and expression cannot be absolute. For example, speech that is libelous, slanderous, incites to riot, or is unlawfully discriminatory or harassing is not constitutionally protected. Subject to these commonly accepted limits, Bennington College endorses the following principles.

Principles

Faculty and instructors are free to teach and to discuss any aspect of a topic pertinent to the understanding of the subject matter of the course that is being taught. Approaches in the classroom, so long as they are within the stipulations of the law and of other stated College policies, are the professional province and responsibility of the teacher. Controversial materials and the expression of controversial views by teachers should not be discouraged. However, teachers must recognize the responsibility inherent in the authority of their position and make efforts to approach material from an informed position and avoid knowing misrepresentation. The faculty should strive to make their classroom an inclusive and supportive environment of diverse points of view.

Faculty and instructors shall enjoy freedom in artistic creation, in research and in the publication and dissemination of the results of their work, subject to the performance of other faculty duties. The College supports the use of its facilities for professional advancement, but the use

of facilities for direct financial gain must be based on a prior written agreement with College officials.

Faculty and instructors are free to act and to speak in their capacity as public citizens without institutional censorship or discipline, but must indicate in such instances particularly when speaking as professionals that they are not acting as representatives of the College. As professionals and representatives of their disciplines, faculty members take upon themselves a responsibility for honesty and accuracy in professional statements and activity. As members of the College community, they should exercise appropriate restraint and show respect for the opinions of others.

Procedures Concerning the Alleged Violation of Principles of Academic Freedom Complaints regarding any alleged violation of the College's principles of academic freedom brought forward by faculty members during the course of their review process should be made in writing to the Faculty Review Appeals Committee.

Complaints regarding any alleged violation of the College's principles of academic freedom outside of the review process by faculty may be made to the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs who may refer them to the <u>Faculty Committee on Grievances</u>.

Statement on Pluralism, Inclusion, and Equity

The College affirms the intersecting identities of all its community members – students, faculty, staff, and alumni – and recognizes their contributions to the vitality of our unique living and learning environment. The College's approach to pluralism and inclusivity – both as fields of inquiry and practice – is to prioritize flexible thought, and to invite the examination of access, value, and power through its institutional policies and areas of study.

This vision statement, drafted by the President's Task Force on Campus Inclusivity, is meant to be a catalyst for dialogue and debate. The faculty, students, and staff who drafted this statement recognize that engaging the important questions of equity, inclusion, and pluralism must entail a commitment to continued learning and practice for both individuals and the College so that the College can fulfill its institutional mission and continue to be a pioneer in the area of progressive higher education. Our goal is to approach these questions, as they exist and manifest themselves on this campus, with consistency, flexibility, imagination, and a commitment to social justice. This vision is guided by the following premises:

- 1. Our commitment to pluralism, an approach that recognizes multiplicity as a starting point. We recognize that diversity as it is generally understood can inadvertently center the dominant paradigm in its "allowance" for "other" perspectives.
- 2. Our commitment to affirming staff and alumni as active contributors to our intellectual and social environment.
- 3. Our commitment to pursuing and cultivating climates and environments in which imaginative and disciplined thought is valued.

4. Our enthusiastic acknowledgment that these questions and the accompanying recommendations are fluid, and thus any agenda aimed at developing pluralism, inclusion, and equity must be adaptable and ongoing.

Our use of "inclusion" points to institutional policies and practices that contribute to the increase of efficacy and ownership for individuals in their campus roles. "Equity" points toward resources (broadly defined) being (re)distributed to groups and individuals as needed in order for them to thrive in their campus role. We understand that the term "diversity" can unintentionally center dominant paradigms, ideologies, and practices; whereas "pluralism" is fundamentally premised on multiplicity and variety as a starting point. When we do use "diversity" it refers to the field's umbrella of thought, practice, and policy.

Open Access

The faculty of Bennington College is resolved to share our scholarship widely by having our work available in the College's institutional repository. By providing open access to our research and data we encourage the broadest use of our scholarship to support the research and education of all, regardless of means or affiliation.

This commitment to sharing our work with the public and academic community includes electronic versions of articles and data sets that faculty has submitted to the Bennington College Digital Repository. The library will help obtain open access copyrights from publishers, and will assist the faculty in the wide distribution of their scholarship.

- Faculty Resolution, October 2017

<u>This link</u> provides information on submitting to the College's open repository at the <u>Crossett Library</u>.

FACULTY APPOINTMENTS AND REAPPOINTMENTS

Overview

Bennington College faculty are hired on a renewable contract system. There is, by design, no faculty rank at Bennington; all those appointed to the faculty hold equivalent faculty status.

All appointments and reappointments to the faculty are made by the Board of Trustees, on the recommendation of the President. Pursuant to the By-laws of the College, the President has "the duty to recommend to the Board for appointment, promotion, and reappointment only those persons who the President is reasonably certain will contribute to the improvement of academic excellence at the College and then, only when such recommendation will otherwise be consistent with the immediate and long-range objectives of the College".

Appointments to the Faculty

The College makes faculty appointments as follows:

- Full-time renewable appointments
- Part-time renewable appointments
- Administrative/faculty renewable appointments
- Visiting appointments
- Instrumental music appointments

Initial faculty appointments are established in the form of a letter from the President or Provost and Dean, specifically stating appointment type and length, salary and benefits eligibility, responsibilities, and any qualifying conditions or other considerations.

Full- and part-time renewable faculty appointments are made on a multi-year basis. A first appointment is typically three years in length. Faculty with full- and part-time renewable faculty appointments are responsible for: teaching, curriculum development, advising and Plan committee participation; contributions to the shared work of their discipline group; committee and other College service; participation in College-wide initiatives; the pursuit of professional activities; and special duties associated with the faculty member's position, if outlined in the letter of appointment. Part-time faculty appointments can be structured in different ways, depending on curricular needs: Fall or Spring term only or courses spread over the full-academic year.

All faculty with appointments of three years or longer are reviewed by the <u>Faculty Performance</u> <u>Review Committee</u>. All faculty with contracts of five years or longer have a mid-contract review evaluation with the Provost and Dean of the College.

Administrative/faculty renewable appointments are made on a multi-year basis. A first appointment is typically three years in length. Those with administrative/faculty appointments are responsible for: teaching (a minimum of 2.5 courses per academic year), curriculum development, and advising and service (in limited capacity). The nature of the administrative work will determine the specific responsibilities of the position. Those with administrative/faculty appointments typically sit with the College discipline group with which they are most closely associated and contribute to the shared work of the group. They are voting members of the faculty. Those with administrative/faculty appointments are reviewed by the Faculty Performance Review Committee.

Visiting appointments are normally made for one year or less for sabbatical, leave, and temporary replacements, course releases, and supplementary courses. The sole responsibility of visiting faculty members is teaching, unless other duties are designated in the letter of appointment. The review of visiting faculty is overseen by the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs.

Instrumental music appointments are made on a yearly basis and are renewable, as determined by need and performance. The sole responsibility of instrumentalists is teaching lessons, unless other duties are designated in the letter of appointment. The review of

instrumental faculty is overseen by the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs and the discipline group.

Teaching Load: Faculty with full-time appointments teach the equivalent of five, 4-credit courses each academic year. The teaching loads of part-time faculty are determined at the time of appointment. Faculty who earn additional teaching credit in any given year may carry that credit forward for up to two academic years; faculty who for any reason go below their required teaching in a year must typically make up that teaching the following year.

Terminal Appointments: A faculty member considering retirement may request a short-term terminal appointment if the date envisioned for retirement extends beyond the current contract. Request for consideration should be made to the Provost and Dean of the College during the year prior to the next scheduled performance review.

Shared and Split Faculty Positions

In recognition of the employment challenges sometimes faced by academic couples in small communities like Bennington, the College will as part of its hiring or reappointment process entertain proposals to either 1) share equally a single full-time faculty position; or 2) convert a full-time faculty position into two part-time positions in two distinct areas. In doing so, the College benefits by attracting and retaining faculty who may otherwise not choose to come to or stay at Bennington. In addition, such an arrangement may allow for additional breadth in our curriculum.

In the case of a shared position, applicants in searches will have the opportunity to apply jointly and must both rank near the top of the applicant pool to be offered the position. Faculty already employed by the College may propose sharing a position as part of reappointment. The Provost and Dean of the College will ask the Academic Policies Committee to assess the curricular implications of the request, and if it recommends favorably, will engage the discipline group to assess the candidate according to the College's typical hiring criteria and practices. The discipline group will make its recommendation to the Provost and Dean.

In the case of a split faculty line, faculty already employed by the College may propose the conversion of a full-time faculty position into two part-time positions in two distinct areas as part of reappointment. The Provost and Dean of the College will ask the Academic Policies Committee to assess whether there is a compelling need for the two areas in the curriculum, and if it recommends favorably, will engage the discipline group to assess the candidate according to the College's typical hiring criteria and practices. The discipline group will make its recommendation to the Provost and Dean.

In recognition of the practical challenges of Bennington's teacher-practitioner model for certain fields, full-time faculty may also at the time of reappointment or mid-term request a conversion of their position to a shared position. The Provost and Dean will confer with the Academic Policies Committee on questions of curricular continuity and balance and will consider the overall impact on teaching and advising in rendering a decision.

Both individuals sharing a position or offered a converted position will have full faculty status and be reviewed separately by the Faculty Performance Review Committee.

Faculty Emeritus

Emeritus is a designated honorary status for faculty. Bennington College confers the title "Emeritus" in recognition of valued years of service and contributions to the community. Emeritus faculty are encouraged to continue to participate as members of the Bennington community and are provided certain privileges and benefits.

All faculty who have served for a minimum of twenty years, and have retired from the College will be considered for faculty emeritus status.

The President will make a recommendation of emeritus status to the Board of Trustees.

Privileges and Benefits

Emeritus faculty are eligible for the following:

- Library privileges
- Continued access to email address
- Listing in College catalogs and other publications as appropriate
- Access to Meyer Recreation Barn
- Invitations to College events
- Enrollment in Bennington College courses (maximum of one course per term)
- Office and/or laboratory space upon request and if available (for up to three years post retirement)

Reappointment to the Faculty: Faculty Performance Review Policy and Procedures Overview

Faculty re-appointments are made by the Board of Trustees upon the recommendation of the President of the College. Pursuant to the By-laws of the College, the President has "the duty to recommend to the Board for appointment, promotion, and reappointment only those persons who the President is reasonably certain will contribute to the improvement of academic excellence at the College and then, only when such recommendation will otherwise be consistent with the immediate and long-range objectives of the College".

All part-time and full-time faculty members with "multi-year contracts" (defined as contracts of three years or more) will be reviewed as follows:

Group 1: Faculty members who, at the end of their first multi-year contract, will have taught at the College for three or more consecutive years.

Group 2: Faculty members who, at the end of their second or subsequent multi-year contracts, will have taught at the College for more than three and less than twelve consecutive years.

Group 3: Faculty members who, at the end of their current multi-year contracts, will have taught at the College for twelve or more consecutive years.

For purposes of determining years of consecutive service, time spent as a sabbatical leave will be considered time teaching at the College; time spent as an unpaid leave, with the exception of those family, parental, and medical leaves provided by law, will not count as time teaching at the College, but will not interrupt consecutive service. If faculty members teach at least one fall or spring term per year, that year is counted as a full year of consecutive service.

Performance Review Criteria for Full- and Part-Time Faculty on Renewable Contracts

Members of the faculty shall be teacher-practitioners who are makers of original work and whose work and teaching are in fruitful interaction. Faculty will have a commitment to a student-centered education and a demonstrated interest in extending the effective reach and influence of the College, both in the lives of students and in the world-at-large. Different faculty members may manifest these qualities differently. Reviews of all faculty shall address the following:

- A. Quality of teaching, including courses taught, curriculum development, and teaching performance; special responsibilities associated with the candidate's position; responsiveness to students' academic needs and interests; quality of advising; quality of narrative reports on individual students; fulfillment of required faculty obligations: timely completion of reports, meeting scheduled classes, observing posted office hours; and meeting all other faculty responsibilities.
- B. Quality and quantity of professional work; integration of professional work into the classroom and curriculum.
- C. Professionalism; quality of interaction with faculty, students, administrators, and staff.
- D. Quality of committee and other College service and participation in College-wide initiatives.
- E. When applicable, quality of work accomplished during sabbaticals and leaves.

Faculty Performance Review Committee

- A. **Composition.** The Faculty Performance Review Committee (FPRC) will be composed of five members and one alternate elected by the faculty. The Provost and Dean of the College also is a member of the Committee. At the end of the Spring Term each year, the faculty members of the Committee to be seated in the subsequent term will select a faculty chair from among its members.
- B. **Election Procedures, Eligibility, and Terms of Members.** Elections will be held according to the procedures described below, in the section <u>Faculty-Elected</u> <u>Committees</u>. Any faculty member whose contract has been reviewed by the FPRC and who has completed three years of service on the faculty prior to the effective date of the open position, and who is not currently serving on the Faculty Review Appeals Committee (FRAC) or the Faculty Committee on Grievances (FCG), is eligible for election

to the FPRC. It is preferable to elect faculty members who teach in both terms of an academic year.

Faculty members will serve staggered three-year terms. Alternates will serve only if a faculty position becomes vacant because of resignation or inability to serve before the start of the academic year, or because a committee member will be on sabbatical or leave for one term or a full academic year; alternates will serve for the full academic year in these cases. If a faculty position becomes vacant during the academic year, the work of the committee will be completed by the remaining members and no alternates will serve.

- C. When a current member of the Committee is under review, the remaining members will act as the Committee in all activities pertaining to that review.
- D. The Committee shall act as it may determine by majority vote in any procedural matters not explicitly addressed.
- E. Members of the Committee will serve impartially in all reviews; it is the obligation of Committee members to avoid personal bias or prejudgment in their approach to each review. This does not remove the expectation that they contribute their perspective and judgment as colleagues to the written information collected for the review, but they should do so through the processes defined below, and prior to the Committee's evaluative deliberations.
- F. All information, discussions, and deliberations that are part of a faculty member's review must be treated by Committee members as confidential.

Performance Review Process

A faculty member's review will normally take place in the year preceding the year in which the faculty member's contract expires. Scheduling of reviews within the year is at the discretion of the Committee and Provost and Dean of the College. The review will be completed and the candidate notified, by the end of the academic year of the review (June 30). Typically, reviews will occur as scheduled regardless of leave status.

Notification. The faculty member will be notified by letter sent by the Provost and Dean of the College in the term preceding the year of the review, setting a deadline for the submission of materials listed in the section below.

Performance Review Materials. The following categories of materials are available for consideration in reviews. Discretion may be exercised by the Committee and Provost and Dean of the College as to what sources and quantities are used. Submission of materials by the faculty member for review and by colleagues solicited for comment is understood to be part of the contractual obligation of all faculty.

 After notification of upcoming review, the faculty member shall submit, by August 15 of the review year, an updated curriculum vitae which documents: teaching activities; College committee service; College community activities and initiatives; research and/or performance grants; professional activity such as publications, performances, or exhibitions.

- 2. The faculty member shall also submit by August 15 of the review year, a personal statement summarizing the faculty member's perspective on his/her work at the College and addressing: how the faculty member's work fulfills the review criteria (particularly for professional practice) as he/she understands them to apply in his/her field and position; and, especially, professional and teaching plans for the future and how they will benefit the College. In this statement or in a supplementary statement (item 3 below) the faculty member shall address concerns raised in previous review(s) or issues that the faculty member believes will be raised in the current review.
- 3. The faculty member may also submit a supplementary personal statement for restricted and confidential distribution to members of FPRC, the Provost and Dean of the College, and the President and not for distribution to external peer reviewers, internal peer reviewers, students, or staff.
- 4. The faculty member shall submit copies of publications and of reviews or other responses to professional work.
- 5. The Office of the Provost and Dean of the College shall provide to the Committee: 1) the summary or recommendation letter given the candidate at the conclusion of the previous review, 2) the recent mid-contract review summary, when applicable, and 3) any stipulations or concerns specified in the most recent appointment letter/contract. (Since some information in the contract may be confidential with respect to the Committee, this information may be made available to the Committee either in an appropriate extract from the letter or in a separate document prepared at the same time as the letter and placed in the file.)
- 6. The Office of the Provost and Dean of the College shall provide to the Committee any other documentation of particular expectations articulated in reappointment letters following previous review(s) or in any subsequent evaluation or documented conversation with the Provost and Dean of the College or the President; this may include relevant correspondence, notes to file, and reports on file in the Office of the Provost and Dean of the College.
- 7. The Office of the Provost and Dean of the College shall provide to the Committee copies of the annual information summaries submitted since the last review and copies of recent sabbatical and leave reports, when applicable.
- 8. Internal peer reviews:
 - Each year, the Provost and Dean of the College will provide a list of faculty to be reviewed during the year to the faculty, inviting written comments concerning any of the review criteria for reappointment.
 - The faculty member under review may be invited to suggest particular faculty members who can comment on professional practice or on other aspects of work at the College. The Committee and Provost and Dean of the College may add to this list.
 - All input to the Committee and Provost and Dean of the College must be written.
 Members of the Committee contributing peer review letters must do so before they inspect or discuss any review materials.

- The Committee and Provost and Dean of the College may request interviews with faculty peers. Any information from such interviews must be documented in the form of notes or recordings if it is to be taken into account in the review.
- 9. External peer reviews:
 - The Committee and Provost and Dean of the College may solicit external reviews addressing the applicable review criteria for professional practice if they deem necessary.
- 10. Evaluation of teaching and advising. In addition to information from the review letters from internal peers, the following sources of information will be used:
 - Submitted course evaluations of the faculty member's courses since the last review.
 - Student evaluations (course comments) written by the faculty member since the last review.
 - Enrollment lists of the faculty member's courses since the last review.
 - Syllabi for the faculty member's courses since the last review.
 - All submitted comments from the faculty member's advisees.
 - Comments concerning the performance of the faculty member solicited from current members of the student body and staff.
 - Comments from class visits by other faculty members designated by the Committee and Provost and Dean of the College; these visits should be arranged in advance with the faculty member being reviewed.
- 11. Other information deemed by the Committee and Provost and Dean of the College to be pertinent to the individual situation.
- 12. Any other information that the faculty member wishes to submit (indicating clearly whether such supplementary material may be made available to external reviewers and faculty colleagues), understanding that the relevance and weight of such information shall be determined by the Committee and Provost and Dean of the College.

Performance Review Procedures

In the case of **Group 1**, the Provost and Dean of the College will structure the review in consultation with the Committee. The Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee will meet at least once jointly with each faculty member under review to discuss concerns or questions arising from assessment of review materials, the faculty member's plans and proposals for the next appointment period, and other questions or statements that might be brought forward by the faculty member under review. The Provost and Dean of the College in consultation with the Committee may require additional meetings with a faculty member under review. A faculty member may request, in writing, additional meetings with the Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee (and should explain why such meetings are desired), but the Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee are not required to oblige. In any case, the Provost and Dean of the College in consultation with the Committee may design such particular procedures for collecting and reviewing information as they see fit so long as guidelines stipulated elsewhere are met.

In the case of **Group 2,** the Committee will structure the review in consultation with the Provost and Dean of the College. The Committee and Provost and Dean of the College will meet at least

once jointly with each faculty member under review to discuss concerns or questions arising from assessment of review materials, any concerns remaining from the faculty member's previous review(s), the faculty member's plans and proposals for the next appointment period, and other questions or statements that might be brought forward by the faculty member under review. The Committee and Provost and Dean of the College may require additional meetings with a faculty member under review. A faculty member may request, in writing, additional meetings with the Committee and Provost and Dean of the College (and must explain why such meetings are desired), but the Committee and Provost and Dean of the College are not required to oblige. In any case, the Committee in consultation with the Provost and Dean of the College may design such particular procedures for collecting and reviewing information as they see fit so long as guidelines stipulated elsewhere are met.

In the case of **Group 3**, the President will structure the review in consultation with the Committee and the Provost and Dean of the College. The Committee and Provost and Dean of the College will meet at least once jointly with each faculty member under review to discuss concerns or questions arising from assessment of review materials, any concerns remaining from the faculty member's previous review(s), the faculty member's plans and proposals for the next appointment period, and other questions or statements that might be brought forward by the faculty member under review. The Committee and Provost and Dean of the College will recommend to the President whether or not external reviewers should be consulted. The President will then decide whether or not such external reviewers will be consulted and the faculty member under review will be so informed. The President may require a meeting with the faculty member under review. A faculty member may request, in writing, additional meetings (and must explain why such meetings are desired), but the President is not required to oblige. In any case, the President in consultation with the Committee and the Provost and Dean of the College may design particular procedures for collecting and reviewing information as the President sees fit so long as guidelines stipulated elsewhere are met.

Typically the Committee and the Provost and Dean of the College will deliberate together. However, the Committee may meet without the Provost and Dean of the College for its own deliberations.

Inappropriate Considerations. If a faculty member under review has concerns about inappropriate considerations influencing his or her evaluation on the part of any Committee member(s) or the Provost and Dean of the College, these concerns should be communicated to the Provost and Dean of the College or, in the case of such concerns with respect to the Provost and Dean of the College, to the President, who may address the concern with the Committee, or in the evaluation/judgment he/she submits in the review. Influence of inappropriate considerations on the outcome of the Committee's review may be considered appropriate grounds for grievance or appeal.

Results of Performance Review Group 1

- 1. Following assessment of all review materials by the individuals involved in the recommendation (the FPRC, the Provost and Dean of the College, and the President), the Provost and Dean of the College will meet jointly with the Committee and the President to discuss each faculty member under review. In this meeting, each party to the review may present judgments and concerns for general discussion. The purpose of this meeting will be to voice particular perspectives and concerns that might be of value in the deliberations of each party. This does not exclude the possibility of conversations at other times during the review process.
- 2. After meeting with the Committee and the President, the Provost and Dean of the College will prepare a written summary of his/her assessment and judgment of the faculty member under review. This should explicitly address perceived strengths and weaknesses, with regard to the criteria for reappointment, in the faculty member's performance. Finally, the summary should present the Provost and Dean of the College's judgment as to whether the candidate should be appointed for an additional term and as to whether particular expectations or stipulations should be specified should the candidate be appointed for an additional term. If the committee agrees, members will co-sign the Provost and Dean of the College's letter. If the Committee's judgment differs from the Provost and Dean of the College's, or if the Committee wishes to expand on the Provost and Dean of the College's statement, a separate statement from the Committee will be written. The document(s) will be delivered to the President.
- 3. A final and formal recommendation for or against appointment for an additional term will be written by the President and sent to the faculty member. The recommendation of the Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee will be included. In the event the faculty member is reappointed, the recommendation will be placed in his or her file for the next review. It should be made clear that the President's recommendation is authoritative, the Provost and Dean of the College's statement and the Committee's statement explicitly advisory; differences in judgment between the President, the Provost and Dean of the College, and the Committee are not, in themselves, grounds for appeal or grievance.
- 4. The President will make his/her final recommendation to the Board of Trustees.

Group 2

- 1. Following assessment of all review materials by the individuals involved in the recommendation (the FPRC, the Provost and Dean of the College, and the President), the Committee will meet with the Provost and Dean of the College and the President to discuss each faculty member under review. In this meeting, each party to the review will present judgments and concerns for general discussion. The purpose of this meeting will be to voice particular perspectives and concerns that might be of value in the deliberations of each party. This does not exclude the possibility of conversations at other times during the review process.
- After meeting with the Provost and Dean of the College and the President, the
 Committee will prepare a written summary of its assessment and judgment of the faculty
 member under review. This should explicitly address perceived strengths and
 weaknesses, with regard to the criteria for reappointment, in the faculty member's

performance since the previous reviews. Finally, the summary should present the Committee's judgment as to whether the candidate should be reappointed and as to whether particular expectations or stipulations should be specified should the candidate be reappointed. If the Provost and Dean of the College agrees, he/she will cosign the Committee's letter. If the Provost and Dean of the College's judgment differs from the Committee's, or if the Provost and Dean of the College wishes to expand on the Committee's statement, a separate statement from the Provost and Dean of the College will be written. The document(s) will be delivered to the President.

- 3. A final and formal recommendation for or against reappointment will be written by the President and sent to the faculty member. The recommendation of the Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee will be included. In the event the faculty member is reappointed, the recommendation will be placed in his or her file for the next review. It should be made clear that the President's recommendation is authoritative, the Provost and Dean of the College's statement and the Committee's statement explicitly advisory; differences in judgment between the President, the Provost and Dean of the College, and the Committee are not, in themselves, grounds for appeal or grievance.
- 4. The President will make his/her final recommendation to the Board of Trustees.

Group 3

- 1. Following assessment of all review materials by the individuals involved in the recommendation (the FPRC, the Provost and Dean of the College, and the President) the President will meet with the Committee and the Provost and Dean of the College to discuss each faculty member under review. In this meeting, each party to the review will present judgments and concerns for general discussion. The purpose of this meeting will be to voice particular perspectives and concerns that might be of value in the deliberations of each party. This does not exclude the possibility of conversations at other times during the review process.
- 2. After the meeting described above, the Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee will prepare a written summary of their assessment and judgment of the faculty member under review. This should explicitly address perceived strengths and weaknesses, with regard to the criteria for reappointment, in the faculty member's performance since the previous reviews. Finally, the summary should present the judgment of the Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee as to whether the candidate should be reappointed and as to whether particular expectations or stipulations should be specified should the candidate be reappointed. If the judgment of the Provost and Dean of the College and that of the Committee differs, each may write separate letters. The document(s) will be delivered to the President.
- 3. A final and formal recommendation for or against reappointment will be written by the President and sent to the faculty member. The recommendation of the Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee will be included. In the event the faculty member is reappointed, the recommendation will be placed in his or her file for the next review. It should be made clear that the President's recommendation is authoritative, the Committee's statement and the Provost and Dean of the College's statement explicitly

- advisory; differences in judgment between the President, the Committee, and the Provost and Dean of the College are not, in themselves, grounds for appeal or grievance.
- 4. The President will make his/her final recommendation to the Board of Trustees.

Administrative/Faculty Renewable Appointments: Faculty Performance Review Policy and Procedures

Individuals holding administrative/faculty positions, as defined in the Faculty Appointments section of the Faculty Handbook, will be reviewed according to the College's *Faculty Performance Review Policies and Procedures* with the additional criteria and procedures outlined in this section.

As outlined in the College's Faculty Performance Review Policies and Procedures, members of the faculty, including those holding administrative/faculty positions, shall be teacher-practitioners who are makers of original work and whose work and teaching are in fruitful interaction. Faculty will have a commitment to a student-centered education and a demonstrated interest in extending the effective reach and influence of the College, both in the lives of students and in the world-at-large. Different faculty members may manifest these qualities differently.

Performance Review Criteria for Administrative/Faculty on Renewable Contracts

The criteria to be used in the review of faculty in joint administrative/faculty positions will be the same as those used for regular faculty, namely teaching, professional work, and professionalism/college service, in addition to specific administrative responsibilities. The FPRC will take into consideration the variations of teaching load, and duties associated with their administrative responsibilities when evaluating faculty performance with regard to professional work and College service. Reviews of all administrative/faculty shall address the following:

- A. Quality of teaching, including courses taught, curriculum development, and teaching performance; special responsibilities associated with the candidate's position; responsiveness to students' academic needs and interests; quality of advising (when applicable); quality of narrative reports on individual students; fulfillment of required faculty obligations: timely completion of reports, meeting scheduled classes, observing posted office hours; and meeting all other faculty responsibilities.
- B. Quality and quantity of professional work and integration of professional work into the classroom and administrative responsibilities. Unlike the professional work of most other faculty, which is expected to have reach well beyond the College, the nature of such work by faculty holding joint faculty/administrative positions, by virtue of its nature, will normally be focused on activities internal to the College. Unless specified in the appointment letter, professional work such as the generation of artistic or scholarly publications, performances, or the execution of original research is not mandatory for administrative/faculty appointments.

- C. Professionalism; quality of interaction with faculty, students, administrators, and staff.
- D. Quality of committee and other College service and participation in College-wide initiatives.
- E. Administrative responsibilities; professionalism, timeliness, and initiatives taken within the context of the unique duties of the position; integration of the specific role of the position into teaching, professional work, and College responsibilities and initiatives when appropriate.

Performance Review Process

The review process for administrative/faculty positions will be the same as that employed for regular and part-time faculty with the following modifications. The immediate supervisor of the faculty member will provide a letter to the committee that describes the faculty member's administrative performance, explicitly addressing the criteria listed above. A follow-up meeting with the supervisor to clarify any information in their letter or to address other issues concerning the review about which the supervisor may have unique insights may be requested by the Committee or the Provost and Dean of the College; likewise, the supervisor may request a meeting to convey information verbally or otherwise inform the work of the Committee. The Committee and the Provost and Dean of the College will meet at least once jointly with each faculty member using the information provided by the supervisor, in addition to all other information used in the review of regular and part-time faculty, as the basis for discussion; the supervisor will not be present at the interview and will not have access to any confidential materials submitted to the Committee. Subsequent to the interview, the Provost and Dean of the College, and/or the Committee, along with the immediate supervisor will jointly write a recommendation letter to the President concerning reappointment; as part of this process, the FPRC may provide the supervisor with summaries of confidential information that have bearing on the recommendation provided that the confidentiality of those submitting materials is maintained. In the event that the judgement of the supervisor, the Provost and Dean of the College and the Committee differs, each may write separate letters. The document(s) will be delivered to the President.

FACULTY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Responsibilities of College Faculty

Bennington is a residential liberal arts college that fosters the creation of intellectual community. The capacities and self-reliance needed to define and pursue a Bennington education are developed both inside and outside the classroom throughout a student's years at the College. All faculty are expected to contribute to the life of the College by being present on campus, engaged in its activities, and available to students, other faculty, and staff. Members of the faculty shall be teacher-practitioners who are makers of original work and whose work and

teaching are in fruitful interaction. Faculty will have a commitment to a student-centered education and a demonstrated interest in extending the reach and influence of the College, both in the lives of students and in the world-at-large.

As referenced in the faculty performance review criteria, all faculty have the following academic responsibilities:

Availability: Faculty members are expected to be available for all academic duties during the academic year. This is understood to mean the entirety of the Fall and Spring terms as well as the week immediately preceding and following each term. The College recognizes the importance of the summer months and Field Work Term to the advancement of professional work and will call on faculty only as needed to conduct time-sensitive work during these periods.

Class Sessions: Faculty are expected to meet with all regularly scheduled classes during each term.

Academic Advising: Faculty members are responsible for setting regular meeting times with advisees and are expected to be on campus and available for all scheduled Plan days.

Office Hours: Faculty members will post and observe regular office hours for consultation and advising of students and will post those hours on syllabi and give to their coordinator.

College Meetings: Faculty members are expected to attend faculty meetings, meetings of the discipline group or groups in which they participate, and committee meetings (as applicable).

College Functions: Faculty members are expected to attend College functions throughout the year. Any faculty member unable to attend Commencement should notify the Provost and Dean of the College.

Narrative Evaluations: Faculty members must submit narrative evaluations to the registrar by the date specified.

Faculty Searches

Composition and Selection of Search Committees

The decision to hire new faculty is not taken lightly; it is made at the presidential level and is informed by input from the faculty in the relevant discipline group(s), APC and the Office of the Provost and Dean. Once approved, the Provost and Dean of the College selects the search committees and their chairs in consultation with faculty from the appropriate discipline area. Search committees are usually composed of three to five faculty members, including the chair, and the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs. Faculty are drawn from the discipline group most directly aligned with the position that is the subject of the search, in addition to at least one faculty member from outside that discipline group. A Search Committee Coordinator, usually one of the Program Coordinators, is also assigned to the search and provides administrative support throughout the process.

Procedures

To ensure that we recruit and hire individuals who will most effectively contribute to the education of our students and to the intellectual and cultural life on campus, all faculty searches will be conducted following these <u>procedures</u>.

Office Assignments

The following provisions are offered as general guidelines for faculty office assignments:

- The Office of the Provost and Dean of the College reviews all faculty office space each year over the summer break (this does not apply to faculty taking a sabbatical or leave of absence). Faculty who wish an office reassignment will need to submit their request to the Office of the Provost and Dean of the College. Faculty who have been teaching the longest, on a full-time basis, will have first choice (if tied, a coin toss will decide the winner). Faculty do not have to request an office reassignment should they prefer staying in their current office. This excludes office spaces containing scientific or mathematical labs.
- Programmatic changes, shifts in faculty numbers, or growth of new disciplines may require office assignment change(s).
- Faculty wishing to use their office while on a sabbatical or leave may do so only if it is not needed for other faculty for the term(s) they are away.
- Faculty sharing an appointment will also share an office.
- Although every attempt is made to give each faculty his or her own office each term, there may be terms when this is impossible. Should this happen, part-time faculty, graduate assistants, interns, technicians, and visiting faculty may be assigned shared office facilities.
- If a graduate assistant, intern, technician or a non-teaching employee is using a space located in an academic/ teaching office environment, the office needs of faculty and/or teaching academic staff will be given first priority. The graduate assistant, intern, technician or non-teaching employee may be offered an alternate office, if available.
- Office space for retired faculty may be assigned during the first three years after retirement when space is available and after all other faculty have been accommodated. When the retired faculty is hired to teach part-time, office space will be assigned as for all part-time faculty.

Absences from Campus and Classes

Faculty are expected to meet with all regularly scheduled classes during each term. While there will always be exceptional situations that draw faculty away from campus from time to time, only under extraordinary circumstances should faculty be away during the first two weeks of the term, registration, and Plan days. The beginning of the term is crucially important both in terms of advising and in providing students with a coherent launch of all classes.

Requests for planned absences away from campus must be made in writing to the Provost and Dean of the College no later than two weeks prior to the proposed time away. The request should give a detailed explanation of the purpose of the time away, the specific dates, and contact information. Additionally, the request should include details on class coverage or

postponement information (including dates and times) and arrangements for advisee coverage. If the request is approved, faculty may arrange for other Bennington faculty to cover their classes. Only Bennington faculty may be proposed for covering advisees. There will be no remuneration for this coverage. If faculty propose an outside guest lecturer to provide class coverage, the College will not incur any additional instructional cost. Faculty may choose to have their salary reduced by an approved amount in order to provide funds for this type of coverage. Faculty will be notified in writing if the request has been approved.

All changes in meeting times and days, due to absences of any kind, must be reported to program coordinators by faculty.

ORGANIZATION OF THE COLLEGE

Statement on Shared and Faculty Governance

Essential to the operation of the College is shared responsibility, cooperative action, and strong communication among constituencies and areas. The College is committed to a robust model of shared governance. This joint effort unfolds in a variety of ways. The faculty has responsibility for the content and integrity of the curriculum and for the setting and maintenance of academic standards at the College. This responsibility is exercised through members of the faculty participating in the governance of the College through their work and independent voice on committees, their deliberation in various meetings, including regular faculty and faculty-only meetings, and in the review of their peers.

Here follows a detailed description of the functions and responsibilities of elected and appointed committees.

Faculty-Elected Committees

Nominations and elections for all-faculty elected committees will be conducted online according to procedures developed by the Provost and Dean's Office in consultation with faculty. Elections for all committee positions will be held in the term prior to the committee or position opening. A call for nominations along with information regarding current committee membership and descriptions of committee charges will be sent to faculty via email in advance of the election. There will also be a period of time for faculty to review the list of nominations so additional nominations can be put forward and to provide an opportunity for faculty to remove their name from consideration.

Voting Eligibility. Faculty members whose contracts are reviewable by FPRC and/or whose most recent contract was reviewed by FPRC are eligible to vote.

Academic Policies Committee

Responsibilities. The function of the Academic Policies Committee (APC) will be to review and make recommendations to appropriate entities, including but not limited to the faculty, President, Provost and Dean of the College, Dean of Studies, and Vice President for Finance and Administration, concerning matters of academic policy and procedures related to long-term planning, academic programs, faculty leaves of absence, curriculum, and academic budgeting. When requests are made for new faculty hires, APC will review these requests and make recommendations to the President and Provost and Dean of the College.

APC will work collaboratively with the Curriculum Planning Committee (CPC) to review and evaluate policies and procedures relevant to curricular planning. When considering proposals that impact the substance or delivery of the curriculum, APC will charge CPC with researching and evaluating the effects of the relevant proposal; CPC will provide APC with a summary of its findings, either as a report or a recommendation. APC can draw on any additional resources when considering curricular proposals and is responsible for making recommendations regarding them to appropriate entities.

APC will regularly solicit information and advice from the faculty to assist in its work. The chair of APC will report to the faculty as a body at faculty meetings; additionally, members of APC may meet from time to time with the faculty for discussion and advice.

Composition. The Academic Policies Committee (APC) will be composed of an elected faculty chair, six other elected faculty members, one elected faculty alternate, and, ex officio, the President, the Provost and Dean of the College, the Dean of Studies, and the Vice President for Finance and Administration. The chair will preside at meetings and will not vote except to break ties. All other members, except alternates not currently serving and those with ex officio status, will have voting rights.

Election Procedures, Eligibility, and Terms of Members. Elections will be governed by the procedures <u>referenced above</u>. Any faculty member whose contract is reviewable by the FPRC or whose contract has been reviewed by the FPRC, and who has completed two years of service on the faculty prior to the effective date of the open position, is eligible for election to the APC.

Faculty members, other than the chair, will serve staggered three-year terms. The chair of APC will serve for a term of one academic year, from July 1 to June 30. If a faculty position becomes vacant because of resignation or inability to serve before the start of the current term, an election to fill the vacancy shall take place within 30 days of such resignation or inability. If a faculty committee member will be on sabbatical or leave, the alternate will serve for the duration of the sabbatical or leave. If a faculty position becomes vacant during the current term, the work of the committee will be completed by the remaining members and no alternates will serve.

College Steering Committee

Responsibilities. The College Steering Committee (CSC) is responsible for participating in College decision-making concerning: administrative policies and procedures; admissions and

market position; financial position; advancement and alumni engagement; faculty affairs; health and safety; and diversity and inclusion.

The CSC will also co-set the faculty meeting agenda and run the Faculty Forum meetings. It will meet regularly with the Board of Trustees.

Composition. The College Steering Committee (CSC) will be composed of six elected faculty members, two elected faculty alternates, the President, Provost and Dean of the College, and the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs. At the end of the Spring Term each year, the faculty members of the Committee to be seated in the subsequent term will select a faculty co-chair from among its members.

Election Procedures, Eligibility, and Terms of Members. Elections will be governed by the procedures <u>referenced above</u>. Any faculty member whose contract has been reviewed by FPRC and who has completed three years of service on the faculty prior to the time of election is eligible for election to the CSC. It is preferable to elect faculty members who teach in both terms of an academic year.

Faculty members will serve staggered three-year terms. If a faculty position becomes vacant because of resignation or inability to serve before the start of the academic year, an election to fill the vacancy shall take place within 30 days of such resignation or inability. If a committee member will be on sabbatical or leave for one term or a full academic year, the alternate will serve for the full academic year. If a faculty position becomes vacant during the academic year, the work of the committee will be completed by the remaining members and no alternates will serve.

Faculty Performance Review Committee

See policy.

Faculty Review Appeals Committee

Purpose. The purpose of the Faculty Review Appeals Committee (FRAC) is to facilitate prompt and equitable responses to 1) alleged violations of faculty performance review procedures and 2) alleged violations of the College's Academic Freedom Policy within the review process. All records of grievance proceedings shall be kept confidential within the jurisdiction of the College.

Jurisdiction. With respect to alleged violations of faculty performance review procedures, the FRAC has jurisdiction to receive complaints only from those faculty members whose contracts have been reviewed by the Faculty Performance Review Committee (FPRC). Those faculty members may submit complaints alleging either that a violation of the College's faculty performance review procedures or that a violation of the College's Academic Freedom Policy occurred in the performance review process. This policy applies to alleged violations occurring on or after the adoption date of this policy.

Authority. The FRAC has the authority to ask the FPRC, the Provost and Dean of the College, or the President to rehear a faculty review for all complaints described in the Purpose (above).

Composition. The Committee will be made up of three members and one alternate, elected by the faculty. At the beginning of each year, a chair will be elected by the Committee from among its members.

Election Procedures, Eligibility, and Terms of Members. Elections will be governed by the procedures <u>referenced above</u>. Any faculty member whose contract is reviewable by the FPRC or whose contract has been reviewed by the FPRC, who has completed three years of service on the faculty prior to the effective date of the open position, and who is not currently serving on the Faculty Performance Review Committee (FPRC) or the Faculty Committee on Grievances (FCG), is eligible for election to the FRAC.

Faculty members will serve staggered three-year terms. If a faculty position becomes vacant because of resignation or inability to serve before the start of the current term, an election to fill the vacancy shall take place within 30 days of such resignation or inability. If a faculty committee member will be on sabbatical or leave, the alternate will serve for the duration of the sabbatical or leave. If a faculty position becomes vacant during the current term, the work of the committee will be completed by the remaining members and no alternates will serve.

Grievance Procedures

- Filing a Grievance. Any faculty member who believes that he or she has cause for grievance regarding an alleged violation of the College's faculty performance review procedures or alleged violations of the College's Academic Freedom Policy in the performance review process shall present a written complaint to the chair of the Faculty Review Appeals Committee. The complaint must contain a statement of the grounds for believing that there has been such a violation and a description of the alleged violation, specifying whether it is the decision of the FPRC, the Provost and Dean of the College, or the President, which is being grieved; and a statement of the facts and circumstances relating to the complaint.
- **Deadline for Filing Complaint.** The FRAC will not consider any such complaint submitted to it more than 60 days after the grievant's receipt of the faculty performance review decision, which is the cause for the complaint.
- Legal Counsel. Parties to a grievance procedure cannot be represented or accompanied by attorneys at any of the meetings or hearings conducted as part of the appeals process. The parties are always free to consult attorneys before or after such meetings.

Faculty Review Appeals Committee Procedures

- A. **Receipt of Complaint.** When the chair of the FRAC receives a written complaint, the chair will convene the Committee.
- B. **Conflict of Interest of Committee Member.** Care must be taken to avoid a conflict of interest of any member of the FRAC with regard to any specific case under review. The

chair of the FRAC will determine, with the advice of members of the Committee, whether any member of the FRAC must be excused because of circumstances that would compromise that member's ability to serve in an unbiased capacity. The chair of the FRAC will appoint an alternate to replace the excused member of the Committee. If the grievant feels that the recusal process failed to eliminate conflicts of interest of a member or members of the FRAC, this may serve as a basis for an appeal of the FRAC decision under the guidelines set forth in 'Determination of Remedy/Recommendation,' section C, below.

- C. Investigation. The FRAC shall have access to all documents that it deems pertinent to the case and may call individuals or groups to appear before it. The FRAC shall have the authority to indicate to any office or individual a reasonable date by which information must be received.
- D. **Procedures.** The FRAC shall determine the format of an appeal. If the FRAC determines that a hearing shall occur, it will not be open to the public. The chair of the FRAC shall send written notification of the hearing to the grievant and to parties it deems appropriate to be present at the hearing. Any hearing will be tape-recorded. If the FRAC concludes that no violations of academic freedom or review procedures have occurred, it will notify the involved parties in writing.

Determination of Remedy/Recommendation

- A. If the FRAC finds a violation of the College's faculty performance review procedures or a violation of the College's Academic Freedom Policy occurring during the review process, it shall so state in a report both to the grievant and to the person and/or Committee whose decision(s) is/are the subject of the grievance. The report shall specify the respects in which the FRAC considers violations of the College's faculty performance review procedures or the College's Academic Freedom Policy in the review process to have occurred and in the case of a violation by the FPRC, shall specify the steps to be taken to remedy the violation; or, in the case of a violation by the Provost and Dean of the College or the President, shall make a written recommendation to the President of the steps to be taken to remedy the violation.
- B. If the FRAC finds that no violations of the College's faculty performance review procedures or of the College's Academic Freedom Policy during the review process occurred, that decision is final.
- C. Appeal of FRAC Decision Regarding a Conflict of Interest. Within 10 working days of issuance of the FRAC decision, the grievant may appeal the FRAC decision to the President, only on the basis of a failure of the FRAC to eliminate a Committee member with an alleged conflict of interest. The President shall review the case and send a letter to the grievant and to the FRAC. If appropriate, the President will specify the steps to be taken to remedy the violation. The decision of the President is final.

Decision by the President

If the President receives a recommendation pursuant to the 'Determination of Remedy/Recommendation' above with respect to a violation by the Provost and Dean of the

College, the President shall review the case and will send a decision letter to the grievant, and if appropriate, to other parties. The decision of the President is final.

If the President receives a recommendation pursuant to the 'Determination of Remedy/Recommendation' above with respect to a violation by the President, the President shall review the case and will send a decision letter to the grievant, and, if appropriate, to other involved parties. The faculty member may appeal the decision of the President to the chairman of the Board of Trustees. The chairman shall determine the format of the appeal. The decision of the chairman of the Board of Trustees is final.

Records

An official record will be kept consisting of the complaint, a list of all meetings and/or hearings (identifying the time and place of the meetings or hearings and all of the participants in them), and any tape-recorded proceedings. This record will be kept by the Senior Vice President for Institutional Initiatives and will only be available to the grievant, the FRAC, the Provost and Dean of the College, and the President.

Faculty Committee On Grievances

Introduction

The faculty and administration believe that it is desirable, whenever possible, to resolve differences directly with the other party. Assistance and advice may be sought from the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs or other members of the faculty with the understanding that the matter is kept confidential. If no satisfactory resolution of the matter can be reached, the individual may file a grievance. The procedure described below provides an avenue for faculty to work out differences if a direct resolution is not possible.

Types of Grievances

The type of grievance determines the procedures that are available for resolution. The list that follows cites the types and the sources that should be consulted for each.

- A. Faculty grievances related to:
 - Alleged violations of the College's Academic Freedom Policy outside of the review process.
 - Alleged discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, age, national origin, ancestry, place of birth, sexual orientation, disability, gender identity, having a positive HIV test, health coverage status, or any other basis prohibited under federal or state law Complaints against faculty by faculty either made by the faculty member or referred by the Provost and Dean of the College may be brought to the Faculty Committee on Grievances (FCG). Such grievances may be addressed through the informal grievance procedure or the formal grievance procedure (below).
- B. Complaints of sexual harassment or sexual assault must be brought in accordance with the <u>Bennington College Policy and Procedures Governing Sexual Harassment, Sexual Misconduct, Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Stalking, and Consent.</u>

- C. All grievances related to performance review and complaints regarding violations of the College's Academic Freedom within reviews shall be addressed to the Faculty Review Appeals Committee (FRAC).
- D. Complaints against faculty by students or other members of the College community may be brought to the Provost and Dean of the College who will determine in his/her sole discretion the format of such complaints.

Composition. The Committee will be composed of three members and one alternate, elected by the faculty. The Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs will participate in the activities of the Committee. A chair will be selected by the Committee from among its members.

Election Procedures, Eligibility, and Terms of Members. Elections will be governed by the procedures <u>referenced above</u>. Any faculty member whose contract is reviewable by the FPRC or whose contract has been reviewed by the FPRC, who has completed three years of service on the faculty prior to the effective date of the open position, and who is not currently serving on the Faculty Performance Review Committee (FPRC) or the Faculty Review Appeals Committee (FRAC) is eligible for election to the FCG.

Faculty members will serve staggered three-year terms. If a faculty position becomes vacant because of resignation or inability to serve before the start of the current term, an election to fill the vacancy shall take place within 30 days of such resignation or inability. If a faculty committee member will be on sabbatical or leave, the alternate will serve for the duration of the sabbatical or leave. If a faculty position becomes vacant during the current term, the work of the committee will be completed by the remaining members and no alternates will serve.

Procedures

- A. **Filing a Grievance.** All complaints, informal or formal, must be addressed to the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs in writing stating the basis of the complaint, the name of the individual(s) against whom it is directed, and the desired remedy. The complaint must be signed, dated, and must give the date(s) of the alleged incident. It must allege one of the following:
 - A violation of the College's Academic Freedom Policy outside of the review process.
 - Unlawful discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, place of birth, age, disability, or HIV-positive status.
 - A dispute(s) between a faculty member and another faculty member(s) that seriously affects the faculty member's ability to function effectively as a member of the College community.
- B. **Scheduling.** In order to ensure adequate time for the grievance to be acted upon and given the nature of the academic calendar, the Committee will normally receive written grievances during term-time. Complaints may only be brought by currently employed College faculty members and may only be brought against currently employed faculty members. Such a grievance must be filed within 12 months after an alleged incident(s).

C. Legal Counsel. Parties to a grievance procedure, informal or formal, cannot be represented or accompanied by attorneys at any of the meetings or hearings conducted as part of the resolution process. The parties are always free to consult attorneys before or after such meetings.

Informal Grievances

- A. Role of Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs. If the informal grievance process is elected by the grievant, the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs will conduct an informal inquiry, meeting individually with the complainant and the person complained against. The Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs may take such interim measures as he or she sees fit pending the outcome of the complaint pursued through the informal grievance process.
- B. **Initial Determination.** The Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs shall determine if there are sufficient grounds for continuing the informal grievance process.
 - If the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs determines that there are not such grounds, he/she shall notify the complainant in writing. If the complainant wishes to pursue the complaint, he/she may file a formal complaint. If the FCG decides not to hear the case, the decision of the FCG will be final.
 - If either party does not agree to participate in the informal grievance process, the complainant will be notified that the grievance may only be pursued under the formal grievance procedure.
 - The Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs may determine that the matter is not appropriate for the informal grievance process and, in that event, will refer the case to the FCG as a formal complaint, under the formal complaint procedure described below. He/she shall notify the complainant in writing.
- C. **The Informal Grievance Process Steps.** If the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs determines that there are sufficient grounds for continuing the informal grievance process, then he/she and the complainant may agree to adopt one of the following courses of action:
 - The Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs will attempt to resolve the dispute directly and privately with the person complained against.
 - The Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs and the complainant will meet together with the person complained against.
 - The Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs will appoint someone from the College community who will seek to resolve the complaint informally. This person will meet with both parties, either separately or together.
 - A complaint pursued through the informal grievance process will be considered to have been resolved when both parties have signed a statement indicating their acceptance of the outcome, and the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs has approved and signed the statement. A complaint that has been resolved through the informal grievance process may not be filed as a formal complaint. A copy of this statement will be given to each party and will be kept in the confidential records of the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs.

- If the complaint cannot be resolved through the informal grievance process, the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs will refer the matter to the FCG under the formal complaint procedure described below.
- Informal grievance process efforts will be confidential.

Formal Grievances

- A. **Grounds for Formal Grievances.** Formal grievances may be filed in the following manners: in writing from the complainant to the chair of the Committee; referred by the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs because of an unsuccessful resolution through the informal grievance process, or because both parties did not agree to mediation; or as an appeal because of a determination by the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs that the grievance is does not have sufficient grounds.
- B. Conflict of Interest of Committee Member. The Committee will determine by majority vote whether any member of the FCG must be excused because of circumstances that would compromise that member's ability to serve in an unbiased capacity. In such cases, an alternate will serve. In the case of an unsuccessful resolution through the informal grievance process, the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs will not participate in the hearing.
- C. **General Procedures.** The Committee may formulate its own procedures insofar as they are not specified in this policy, which may include investigating grievances.
- D. **Decision to Hear the Case.** The FCG shall decide whether or not to accept a formal grievance. A written notice of hearing or a notice of dismissal will be sent by the FCG to both parties.
- E. **Hearing Procedures.** Hearings shall not be open to the public. The Chair of the Committee presides. The grievant and those against whom a grievance is lodged will be given the opportunity to make opening and closing statements and will both have the opportunity to be present throughout the hearing. The grievant and those against whom a grievance is lodged are offered the opportunity to present witnesses and to question one another's witnesses. At the close of the hearing, all parties shall be excluded during the deliberations of the Committee. All parties in a complaint will have the right to have access to all documents and records given to the Committee. The Committee shall reach its decision in a timely manner, normally within three weeks after the end of the hearing.
- F. **Committee Recommendation.** The FCG will issue a written report to the Provost and Dean of the College of its findings and make such recommendations, as it deems appropriate. Appended to this report will be all the documents reviewed by the FCG. A copy of this report will be sent to the grievant and those against whom the grievance has been lodged.
- G. **Decision.** After reviewing the report and appended documents, the Provost and Dean of the College will decide the case, and may implement or revise the recommendations of the FCG. A copy of the decision will be sent to all parties and to the FCG.
- H. **Appeal.** Within 10 working days of the issuance of the Provost and Dean of the College's decision, any party to the grievance may appeal the FCG decision to the President. The President shall determine, in his/her sole discretion, the format of appeals. The President may implement, modify, increase, or suspend the decision of the Provost and Dean of

- the College. The decision of the President is final. A copy of the decision will be sent to all parties and to the FCG.
- I. Materials and records of the FCG will be kept by the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs.
- J. In cases in which the Provost and Dean of the College has determined that the respondent(s) to a grievance was responsible for violating items under section A in 'Procedures' above, a copy of the decision letter and the appeal decision letter, if any, will be kept in the faculty member's personnel file in the Office of the Provost and Dean of the College, which file is available for faculty performance reviews and for the President.

Provost and Dean-Appointed Committees

Academic Technology Committee

Responsibilities. The Academic Technology Committee (ATC) is an interface between the faculty users of technology at the College and the Department of Information Technology (IT). It provides a forum for these users of technology to participate in the discussion and evaluation of technologies that impact teaching, learning, research, and scholarship. Additionally, it provides a conduit to allow ongoing conversations and feedback between relevant parties about the College's technology policies, technology use, and the effectiveness of new and existing systems. The ATC will also work with the Academic Policy Committee and IT to prioritize computing CapEx requests. Finally, it serves as a forum to proactively seek out new technology and opportunities -- as the needs of the College evolve, the users of technology at the College will help to shape new policies.

The ATC will meet regularly to set academic technology goals for the College in collaboration with the Director of Information Technology, evaluate the progress of current projects, and provide feedback on both current and emerging technologies at the College. Proposals brought to or emanating from the ATC may be put to a vote by faculty members within the ATC to inform the priorities and practices of IT. Reports and minutes from the meetings will be made available to all faculty as well as shared directly with the Academic Policy Committee, the Curriculum Planning Committee, and the College Steering Committee.

Composition. The ATC will be composed of between 4 and 6 faculty members, the Provost (or their designee), the Director of Information Technology, the Vice President for Finance and Administration, and the Dean of Research, Planning, and Assessment. Faculty committee members will elect a faculty co-chair at the end of each academic year to serve during the following academic year; the ATC will be co-chaired by the Director of IT.

Terms of Members and Selection Process. Faculty members will be appointed to staggered three year terms. Any faculty member with an interest in helping to shape the technology needs of the College and a willingness to dedicate time to the ATC should express their interest to the Provost by the end of each academic year. The Provost will appoint any new faculty members to the ATC prior to the start of the academic year.

Administrative Review Committee

Committee on Research with Human Participants

The charge of the Committee on Research with Human Participants is to ensure that research conducted by Bennington College faculty members, staff, and students fosters the ethical treatment of human research participants. Committee approval is required for all research on human participants conducted by College faculty members, staff, and by students doing research with human participants for senior theses, senior projects, and individual and group tutorials. Research using human participants undertaken by students as a requirement of their enrollment in a regularly scheduled Bennington College course must be approved by the instructor of the course, who may, but is not obligated to, consult the Committee for advice.

The Committee will be composed of three members appointed by the Provost and Dean of the College, all of whom must be familiar with professional association ethical standards for research with human participants, and at least one of whom has conducted research employing human participants. Members will serve on the Committee for a term of three years, the terms of office to be staggered.

General Guidelines

Those in the categories described above planning to engage in research using human participants must submit a proposal to the Committee. Proposals from students shall include a standardized cover sheet signed by the student's advisor or the faculty member supervising the research, whichever is appropriate. Proposals should be submitted far enough in advance of the date on which data collection is scheduled to begin to allow for the possibility that the Committee might require changes. Under normal circumstances, the Committee will review and respond to proposals within four weeks of their submission. In all cases, the proposal must be approved by the Committee before data collection begins.

Proposals shall include:

- 1. A concise description of the major question(s) the project is meant to address, the theoretical frameworks and research literature that have been consulted to this point, and the proposed method of data collection.
- 2. A detailed description of:
 - The types of data to be collected
 - The people (or records, or organization) from whom the data will be collected
 - The methods to be employed in gathering these data (including the way participants will be recruited)
- 3. A copy of the proposed Statement of Informed Consent that must be signed by each participant prior to their participation. In instances in which the researcher believes this requirement is not applicable or cannot be met, the researcher must provide a specific explanation and request for exemption. Along with that request, the proposal must include a description of the way in which the researcher will:

- Elicit participants' informed consent to participate
- Eliminate or minimize any potential risk of harm to the participants
- Protect to the extent agreed upon the fact of their participation
- Keep confidential the data they provide, including data storage
- 4. A description of the way the proposed research responds directly to any specific concerns of the appropriate professional association's (American Psychological Association, American Sociological Association, American Anthropological Association, etc.) code of ethics not addressed in items 1-3 above.
- 5. A copy of the certificate documenting that the researcher has successfully completed the tutorial on protecting human research participants found on the NIH Office of Extramural Research website. The tutorial is sponsored by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, and the National Institutes of Health; it takes about two hours to complete. In the case of proposals by students, the student shall provide a certificate.

Upon receiving the Committee's approval, the responsibility for adhering to these guidelines in the conduct of the research rests with the faculty member (in the case of faculty proposals) and the faculty research supervisor and the student (in the case of student proposals).

Curriculum Planning Committee

Responsibilities. The Curriculum Planning Committee (CPC) will be responsible for long-term curricular planning and for reviewing and approving the curriculum each term. CPC members will serve as Curriculum Coordinators groups and be responsible for facilitating curricular discussions in their respective discipline groups and for the organization and timely submission of necessary course information to the Office of the Registrar. Additionally, CPC will verify the teaching hours to credit hours ratio, develop scheduling models that minimize conflicts, assure adequate seats for introductory-level courses, encourage the development of multi-year curricula in support of the student Plan process, facilitate the sabbatical/leave hiring process, and promote diversity in the curriculum.

Composition. CPC will be composed of an appointed faculty member from each discipline group. On occasion, the Provost and Dean of the College may appoint an additional faculty representative in response to curricular needs, particularly those of an interdisciplinary nature. CPC will be co-chaired by the Associate Dean for Curriculum and Pedagogy and the Dean of Research, Planning, and Assessment.

Relationship to the Academic Policies Committee (APC). APC is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations concerning general matters of academic policies, including those that impact the curriculum. CPC is responsible for the implementation and facilitation of curricular policies. At the request of APC, CPC will review and evaluate policies and procedures relevant to curricular planning; these may include but are not limited to assessing the impacts of curricular initiatives or new programs, changing the registration process, and modifying course evaluation procedures. CPC may also at its discretion propose to APC recommendations related to policy changes or curricular needs. To ensure adequate notification and review, CPC

will communicate with APC before making significant changes to procedures or practices, as distinct from policies, related to its charged responsibilities.

Terms of Members and Selection Process. Faculty members will serve for a term of three years. The Provost and Dean of the College will ask each relevant discipline group to nominate three faculty members who might serve as a member of CPC. The Provost and Dean of the College and the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs will select the member from the three nominated faculty. The Provost and Dean of the College will inform the discipline group of the final selection in a timely manner.

Judicial Committee

Production Committee

The Production Committee, with members from Music, Dance and Drama, meets regularly with the production manager to review matters pertaining to the production calendar, performance spaces, publicity, and special events.

President-Appointed Committees

Safety Committee

Land and Building Use Committee

Sustainability Committee

FACULTY SUPPORT AND DEVELOPMENT

Paid Leaves

Described below are several paid leaves available to Bennington faculty with multi-year contracts: sabbatical; early sabbatical; and non-teaching term. All are intended to provide opportunities for professional growth for the benefit of the faculty member and the College.

Notification of a faculty member's eligibility for any of the leaves will take place each spring (a year and a half before the eligibility year). The leaves may be taken in the terminal year of a faculty contract.

Once an individual has requested and been granted a leave for a specific period, the individual may not unilaterally decide to forgo the leave in whole or in part. The rescinding of an already-granted leave requires the approval of the Provost and Dean of the College.

By the end of the first month of teaching following a paid leave, a report on activities undertaken during the leave is to be submitted to the Provost and Dean of the College. This report, along with the paid leave proposal, will be included in the faculty member's file at the time of the next performance review. Faculty may also be asked by the Provost and Dean of the College to make a short presentation describing the work and its impact on the College community.

Sabbatical Leave

The Sabbatical Leave is granted to faculty not only as a recognition of service through teaching and of contributions to the College community, but especially as an aid and inducement to further achievements. Sabbaticals are not to be used primarily for recreation and recuperation. A sabbatical for teaching elsewhere is generally discouraged but may be approved by the APC and the Provost and Dean of the College in exceptional circumstances. Sabbatical leave terms do not accrue towards a faculty member's next sabbatical.

Faculty members with multi-year contracts reviewable by the Faculty Performance Review Committee who have completed five continuous years of full-time teaching at Bennington are eligible to apply for sabbatical leave. Part-time faculty who hold multi-year contracts reviewable by the Faculty Performance Review Committee and whose teaching spans the full academic year are eligible for sabbatical leaves; eligibility is calculated as the equivalent of five continuous years of full-time teaching, or 25 (4-credit) courses. Note that courses taught in a visiting capacity or in addition to a faculty member's contracted load will not be counted. The opportunity for taking a sabbatical at regular intervals is not guaranteed by the College and will be granted, at the sole discretion of the College, only when the faculty member's proposed absence will not impair the interests of the College. The granting of the leave is made by the Provost and Dean of the College after recommendation from the APC.

Faculty members may choose to apply for either one term at full salary or a year of sabbatical leave at 55% salary. Full-time faculty who choose to apply for one term will be expected to teach three courses in the other term of the academic year. Part-time faculty who apply for one term will be expected to teach half of their yearly course load in the other term of the academic year. Sabbatical leaves must be taken in the first or second term after eligibility, unless the APC recommends and the Provost and Dean of the College concurs that the needs of the College permit deferral of the sabbatical for an additional period. Time deferred beyond the second term after eligibility will not be credited towards the faculty member's next sabbatical leave.

The College will pay its customary share of all employee benefits while a faculty member is on a sabbatical, with the exception of contributions made by the College to retirement plans as these are determined based on the actual compensation paid, as required by ERISA law, and will be reduced accordingly when a faculty member is on a year-long sabbatical. College contributions to retirement plans remain the same during a one-term sabbatical.

Proposals: A faculty member who wishes to apply for a sabbatical must submit a proposal of no more than five pages by October 15 after receiving notification from the Office of the Provost

and Dean. The proposal must include the dates of the requested term or year of leave. It should describe with as much detail as possible the work that will be undertaken and state how the work meets the intent of the leave.

Competitively Awarded Leaves Early Sabbatical

The Early Sabbatical is a competitively awarded leave intended to provide faculty with the opportunity for continued professional growth at an earlier point in teaching service. As with sabbaticals, the leave is granted to faculty not only as a recognition of service through teaching and for contributions to the College community, but especially as an aid and inducement to further achievements.

Faculty members who have been reappointed following a Faculty Performance Review and have completed a minimum of three continuous years of full-time teaching at Bennington are eligible to apply for Early Sabbatical. Part-time faculty who have been reappointed following a Faculty Performance Review, and whose teaching spans the full academic year, are eligible to apply for Early Sabbatical after the completion of a minimum of teaching 15 (4-credit) courses at Bennington. Note that courses taught in a visiting capacity or in addition to a faculty member's contracted load will not be counted. Faculty may choose to apply for either one term at full salary or a year of sabbatical leave at 55% salary. Full-time faculty who choose to apply for one term will be expected to teach three courses in the other term of the academic year. Part-time faculty who apply for one term will be expected to teach half of their yearly course load in the other term of the academic year. College contributions to benefits programs during an early sabbatical are the same as during a regular sabbatical (outlined above).

Early Sabbaticals cannot be deferred. Early Sabbaticals cannot be taken in the year following a regular sabbatical and may not be combined with regular earned sabbaticals. Early Sabbatical leave terms do not accrue towards a faculty member's next sabbatical. Faculty members who are awarded Early Sabbaticals are eligible to apply for their next sabbatical after completing the equivalent of five continuous years of full-time teaching at Bennington, or 25 (4-credit) courses, following the early sabbatical.

Non-Teaching Term Leave

The Non-Teaching Term Leave (NTT) is a competitively awarded one-term leave intended to give faculty members additional time to devote to the advancement of professional work and/or to the development of courses that take the faculty member's teaching in a significantly new direction. The leave may also include participation in Bennington College courses, if such participation would support professional work, curricular development, or would facilitate greater engagement with the academic life of the College. During the leave, the faculty member does not teach but will continue to advise students and participate in elected or appointed committee work and other College service.

Faculty members who have completed a minimum of three continuous years of full- or part-time teaching and have been reappointed following a Faculty Performance Review are eligible to

apply. The NTT is for one term at full salary. Non-Teaching Term leaves will not be awarded in the year immediately preceding or immediately following a regular sabbatical (if applicable). The leave cannot be deferred. The teaching load of part-time faculty will be half of their yearly course load during the term of the leave; the remainder of their contracted courses will be taught in either the other term of the academic year or in the term of the leave if they only teach one term per year. Full-time faculty are expected to teach three courses in the other term of the academic year. For those with full-time appointments, the term in which the leave is taken accrues towards sabbatical leave.

Proposals: A faculty member who wishes to apply for a competitively awarded leave must submit a proposal of no more than five pages by September 1 after receiving notification from the Office of the Provost and Dean. The proposal must include the dates of the requested term or year of leave. It should describe with as much detail as possible the work that will be undertaken and state how the work meets the intent of the leave. The granting of the leave is made by the Provost and Dean of the College after recommendation from the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs, and the chairs of APC and FPRC.

Unpaid Professional Leave of Absence Policy Introduction

All decisions with respect to the granting of unpaid leaves for professional purposes are made by the Provost and Dean of the College after recommendation from the Academic Policies Committee (APC).

Faculty members may, with the recommendation of the APC and approval of the Provost and Dean of the College, apply to take unpaid professional leaves at a time when they are not eligible to receive College-supported sabbatical leave. Unpaid professional leaves may be granted for research, study, and teaching at another institution, or other forms of professional development provided that such leaves will not interfere with the faculty member's educational responsibilities at the College. Faculty members must be in residence and teaching no fewer than two continuous years (four terms) before each application will be considered. Such leaves may be for a term or a year. No leave of absence may be taken in the terminal year of a faculty contract.

The base salary of faculty members on professional leave will be adjusted on their return by the amount of any general faculty salary increase granted during their absence. Up to two terms of unpaid professional leave may be taken between sabbaticals without canceling terms already accrued towards the next sabbatical. Leave terms will not accrue towards sabbatical. A faculty member proposing such a leave, in order to avoid resetting the sabbatical clock, must propose the leave by December 1 of the academic year preceding the proposed leave, and that proposal must be approved by the APC and by the Provost and Dean of the College.

Administration of Unpaid Leaves of Absence

Applications: A faculty member who wishes to apply for a leave must submit an application by December 1 of the academic year preceding a proposed Fall Term leave, and by May 1 of the academic year preceding a proposed Spring Term leave. The application must include:

- The dates of the requested term or year of leave.
- A general outline of those purposes and the activities to be undertaken.

Reports: By the end of the first month of teaching following the leave, all faculty members granted a leave are required to forward to the APC and the Provost and Dean of the College copies of a report on activities undertaken during the period of the leave.

Benefits During Leaves: Benefits during unpaid leaves vary. The College will pay its customary share of medical, disability, and life insurance premiums for faculty on unpaid leaves who have no outside income during that period. Faculty members must continue to pay their own share of these premiums. The same arrangements will exist for faculty members who have outside income from a grant, employer, or other source that will not pay benefits. The College will not, however, provide benefits for faculty members on unpaid leave who have outside income from a grant or employer who pays benefits. The grant or employer will be required to assume the cost of the faculty member's employee benefits in this case.

The College will not make Social Security or TIAA CREF contributions during unpaid leaves of any kind, since these benefits are tied to salary payments. In all cases, faculty members planning to take unpaid leaves should discuss their individual cases with Human Resources to be sure employee benefits are being properly provided.

Changes of Leave: Orderly planning of program and curricular staffing requires certainty about leaves for individual faculty and has an impact on the curriculum and size of the faculty.

Once an individual has requested and been granted a leave for a specific period, the individual should work closely with the Curriculum Coordinator in their discipline to recruit replacement faculty for any course(s) that the Provost and Dean of the College deems necessary to replace.

Course replacement/visiting faculty need to be in place prior to registration for the vacated term. For a Fall Term unpaid leave, a replacement needs to be under contract, with courses in the curriculum prior to May 1. For a Spring Term unpaid leave, a replacement needs to be under contract with courses in the curriculum prior to November 1.

An individual needing to forgo the leave either in whole or in part must submit a request to APC and the Provost and Dean of the College prior to the replacement dates stated above.

Supplemental Support for Research During Sabbatical or Leaves of Absence

Faculty are encouraged to apply for awards supporting full-time research activities funded on the basis of a national or international competition, e.g., Guggenheim, NEH, ACLS, Institute for Advanced Study, National Humanities Center, etc.

Faculty who have received such prestigious awards may apply for supplemental funds from the College in order to minimize the financial impact of taking the one or two semester leave from teaching required to accept the award. In no case will the external awards and the supplemental award total more than the faculty member's annual salary. The amount available for supplemental support will be the difference between the faculty member's annual salary and the related costs of replacing the faculty member for the one or two term leave.

Faculty members who are eligible for sabbatical leave are eligible to apply for supplemental support. Ordinarily, faculty members may receive at most one supplemental award each sabbatical cycle. Supplemental funds will be awarded on a first-come first-served basis, but the College will try to fund all legitimate requests. Requests for supplemental funds should be directed to the Provost and Dean of the College.

The Office of the Provost and Dean Faculty Grants

The Office of the Provost and Dean faculty grants assist members of the faculty with renewable appointments of three years or longer in their professional and scholarly work outside of the College. Faculty grants may be used for a range of activities, such as the presentation of papers at professional conferences, research trips, membership fees in professional organizations, publication costs, research assistance for faculty projects, software, exhibition preparation, or other activities that directly advance the faculty member's professional goals. Grant funds may not be used to purchase equipment, and are typically not awarded for conference attendance only.

Requests should be in the form of a written proposal and include the following: a description of the proposed work, an outline of the time frame, the benefit(s) in advancing the professional goals of the faculty member, and an itemized estimate of the total cost and amount of support requested. The request should also include if the faculty member will be receiving any additional funding, including grants, fellowships, payment from outside sources or sponsoring organizations, and if they are anticipating any projected income from the distribution or sale of their work.

The following guidelines pertain to the process of hiring research assistants under faculty grants:

Students

Bennington students will be paid through the College's student payroll system at the regular pay rate (in accordance with Vermont State minimum wage) in a position coded as "Research Assistant." In rare situations, if a particular research assistant position requires extensive experience or expertise, the faculty member can petition for an increase to the above-stated hourly wage up to a maximum rate pre-set by the Office of the Provost and Dean. When

budgeting, faculty need to add an additional 7.65% FICA tax expense (paid by the College) to the hourly rate to determine the full position cost intended to be covered by the grant.

Student Research Assistant positions are not Federal Work Study (FWS) eligible, and do not count against a student's FWS work allotment. (Money earned, however, may impact a student's future financial aid allocation in the same way a non-FWS off-campus position would.) Faculty interested in hiring a Bennington student as a research assistant should review the College's staff webpage on <u>Supervising a Student Employee</u> and notify the Office of the Provost and Dean to help coordinate all position approval, hiring, and timesheet management processes. To advertise a research assistant position to the student body, faculty can contact the Office of Student Engagement.

Non-students*

Hired for one term, a summer/field work term, or less: Faculty may hire a non-student and pay them directly as an independent contractor or as their employee depending on the nature of the working arrangement. (See <u>federal guidelines</u> for independent contractor versus employee status.) The faculty member, not the College, is the hiring party or employer of short-term, non-student research assistants. The rate of pay is at the discretion of the faculty member and should be highlighted in the budget portion of the grant application. The faculty member will be reimbursed by the College up to the amount of the grant award upon receipt of proof of payment and appropriate invoices.

Hired for longer than one term or a summer/field work term: Non-students must be hired as an employee of the College through Human Resources (HR) and paid an hourly rate approved by the College. Faculty are advised that the recruitment process will require standard HR practices, including but not limited to an employment application, interview process, references, contract development, orientation, and ongoing supervisory responsibilities. Faculty should contact HR directly to determine the full cost of the position and to arrange for the College to conduct its standard hiring process.

*If a desired candidate for recruitment is an alumnus/alumna, please contact Human Resources before beginning the recruitment process.

Faculty will be notified by the Office of the Provost and Dean of the College of the grant application process and deadline. The Provost and Dean of the College reviews all requests and makes the determination on the funding of each faculty grant.

External Grant Preparation Procedures

At the earliest stage of interest in a grant opportunity (before developing a proposal), the faculty member should email their idea to the Provost and Dean of the College for approval. This initial email should provide a short explanation of the grant opportunity including the following details:

- The foundation, agency, or organization offering the grant
- A description of the program or grant opportunity
- A description of the faculty's proposed research project

- The proposed amount to be requested
- Submission deadline(s)
- Financial documents and other attachments required (if known)

The Provost and Dean of the College will check if there are conflicts of interest with other grants being pursued by the College, and will indicate if the faculty member may apply for the grant. The faculty member should then prepare a proposal in accordance with the grant guidelines. The Office of the Provost and Dean is available to assist with budget or other related questions.

At least three full weeks before the submission deadline, the draft proposal and budget should be sent to the Provost and Dean of the College, the Manager of Grants and Partnerships in the President's Office, and the Vice President for Finance and Administration in the Business Office. A longer time frame is needed for significant or multi-year grants, or those with a longer, more involved application process (i.e., NEA, NEH, NSF, etc.). Comments, including the determination of overhead rates, and any revisions will be returned to the faculty member no later than two weeks prior to the deadline. Once all revisions have been made, the Vice President for Finance and Administration will sign the proposal. The faculty member or the Vice President for Finance and Administration will submit the final proposal to the grant agency, depending on what the grant instructions require. The faculty member will send a copy of the signed final proposal to the Provost and Dean and to the Manager of Grants and Partnerships.

The faculty member will email the agency's or foundation's decision letter about the grant proposal to the Provost and Dean and the Manager of Grants and Partnerships within one week of receiving the decision.

It is the responsibility of the faculty member to submit all required reports to the granting organization, meeting all applicable deadlines. The faculty member will contact the Director of Budgets and Administration and the Manager of Grants and Partnerships well in advance of reporting deadlines with budget or other related questions. The faculty member will send a copy of all reports to the Provost and Dean and the Manager of Grants and Partnerships.

Note: Bennington College supports research funded by Public Health Services that is objective and without bias resulting from financial conflict of interest (FCOI). To that end, the College has adopted the PHS FCOI requirements found in <u>42 CFR 50</u>, <u>Subpart F</u>, and assists its faculty and staff in adhering to these regulatory requirements.

The Kensinger Meeting

Hosting a Kensinger Meeting provides faculty the opportunity to invite colleagues from outside the College to join them on campus for a period of fruitful collaboration supported by the resources of the campus.

Kensinger Meetings are inspired by former anthropology faculty member Ken Kensinger, who taught at Bennington from 1971-95. For nearly twenty years Kensinger hosted summer meetings on campus for colleagues from around the world interested in sharing ideas on field

research in lowland South America. Known widely as a generous and insightful colleague, Kensinger welcomed scholars at all points in their careers and from all perspectives in his burgeoning field to engage in deep conversations on subjects at the center of their most current work. The new Kensinger Meeting honors his work by drawing upon the same format and spirit.

While Bennington faculty regularly attend conferences and engage in collaborative work of every kind, it could be immensely helpful for some faculty (no matter the area of study) to share work in progress, receive feedback, and collaborate on a common project with valued peers in a small setting apart from other professional obligations. Although the hosting of a Kensinger Meeting is a formal award, the shape of faculty time on campus is not intended to be overly formal. Rather, we envision a lively group of faculty meeting throughout the days, working in earnest, and relaxing in good company.

Each year, there will be two Kensinger Meetings: one hosted by CAPA, and the other by a Bennington faculty member from any discipline. All faculty with multi-year appointments are eligible to apply to host a meeting.

The award provides:

- Access to meeting space in CAPA (and other parts of campus as needed) over fall or spring Long Weekend, or a period of 3 to 5 days during FWT.
- Meal cards for all meals for the faculty member and guests (with the exception of FWT, as dining services will be closed).
- Accommodations in CAPA for up to five guests (including the faculty member) for the length of the meetings, including an additional day for guests traveling from long distances. Family members of guests cannot be accommodated. Please note that we cannot provide funds for travel to and from the College.

For information on available dates, view this <u>document</u>.

Application process, criteria for selection, and timeline: Interested faculty should submit a proposal submission sheet which includes description of the project and how it will advance the faculty member's professional objectives, an anticipated schedule for the on-campus meeting, and a list of participants who have confirmed their availability, should the award be granted.

Applications for the Kensinger Meeting Award will be evaluated based upon the clarity of the idea for the meeting, relevance to the faculty member's professional work, and prospects for its success. Only complete applications will be considered.

Applications for fall/winter are due by September 1 and for spring by March 1. Applications will be reviewed by the Provost and Dean, the Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs, and the chairs of the APC and the FPRC. Decisions will be made by mid-September or mid-March as applicable. Applications are located in the Office of the Provost and Dean.

Family and Medical Leave Policy for Faculty

The College will grant a leave in accordance with law and this Policy as outlined below.

In accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), the College will provide eligible faculty up to 12 weeks of leave in a rolling 12-month period measured backward from the date of any FMLA leave usage. A faculty member must have worked at the College for one year and must satisfy the other FMLA eligibility requirements (see the section below entitled "Definitions") to be eligible to request a family or medical leave.

Family and Medical Leave

This policy provides only a summary of the main provisions of the Federal and State family and medical leave laws; it is the intention of the College that its policy comply with those laws, where applicable. Note: FMLA laws define the maximum amount of leave available to employees based on the reason for leave. To the extent that this Policy permits a faculty member to leave exceeding FMLA requirements, the additional leave time is being provided pursuant to this Policy only, and not pursuant to any Federal or State law.

Bennington College provides eligible faculty members up to 6 months* leave during a 12-month period for the following reasons:

- A. Birth of a child, or the placement of a child with the faculty member for adoption or foster care.
- B. A serious health condition affecting the faculty member's spouse, civil union partner, child, stepchild, ward, parent, or spouse/civil union partner's parent for which the faculty member is needed to provide care.
- C. A faculty member's own serious health condition, when he/she is unable to perform the essential functions for his/her job.
- D. Military Family Leave entitlements.

*Note that the maximum leave time granted may be the lesser of the maximum time indicated in this Policy or the end of the faculty member's current contract. To comply with applicable leave laws and at the same time ensure a quality academic experience with minimal disruption for students, the Provost and Dean of the College may consult with the faculty member on leave arrangements and make exceptions to this policy.

This leave time shall be unpaid other than as specified in the section below entitled "Pay Policies During Family and Medical Leave."

When the faculty member returns to work after family or medical leave, the faculty member is entitled to be restored to the same position held when the leave started, or an equivalent position, as that faculty member would have had if he or she had been continuously employed during the leave.

For birth, adoption, or foster placement of a child, planned medical treatment for a serious health condition, or in other circumstances where the leave is foreseeable and notice

practicable, the faculty member must provide thirty days' notice of intent to use leave. Otherwise, notice must be given as soon as practicable or else the leave may be delayed.

For a leave for a faculty member's own serious health condition or a serious health condition of a spouse, civil union partner, child, stepchild, ward, parent, or spouse/civil union partner's parent:

- A. Leave may be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule under certain circumstances. Please consult with the Provost and Dean of the College regarding intermittent leave.
- B. For a planned medical treatment for a faculty member or family member, the faculty member must make a reasonable effort to schedule leave time to avoid disrupting operations, subject to the approval of the health care provider.
- C. Medical certification must be provided on forms available from the Office of Human Resources. The medical certification should be provided no later than the time the leave begins and must be provided within 15 days after medical certification is requested. (Additional certification may be required at 30-day intervals; and the College may require a second or third exam at its expense.)

Should a faculty member not return to work, the faculty member may be required to pay the entire cost (College and participant share) of the health insurance premium during the faculty member's leave, in accordance with law.

Definitions

- A. Eligible faculty member is any faculty member who has been employed a minimum of 12 months and has worked a minimum of 1250 hours during the 12-month period immediately preceding the beginning of the leave.
- B. Child for the purpose of this policy includes the faculty member's child, stepchild, ward, or foster child.
- C. Parent for the purpose of this policy means the faculty member, spouse, or civil union partner's parent.
- D. Serious health condition is generally a condition, illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition which requires inpatient care at a hospital, hospice, residential medical care facility, or a condition that requires continuing care by a licensed health care provider; a full description of a serious health condition is as described by Federal and State family and medical leave law.

Procedure

- A. The faculty member must notify the Provost and Dean of the College of the request to take Family/Medical Leave providing date of commencement and expected date of return to work.
- B. The faculty member coordinates the request to take Family/Medical Leave with Human Resources and must obtain any necessary medical certification in a timely manner on forms available from Human Resources.

- C. If necessary, the faculty member must schedule intermittent leave time with consideration for the work schedule with the Provost and Dean of the College.
- D. While on leave the faculty member must keep the Provost and Dean of the College and Human Resources informed of intent to return and any changes in scheduled return time.

Pay Policies During Family and Medical Leave

This policy applies only to illnesses or disabilities that are not covered by the Vermont Workers' Compensation Act.

Faculty members injured on the job will be compensated in accordance with that Act. Family or Medical leave may or may not be covered by paid time off, depending on the circumstances. Leaves are to be determined in consultation with the Provost and Dean of the College. A Family or Medical leave may be taken between sabbaticals without canceling terms already accrued towards the next sabbatical. Leave terms will not accrue towards sabbatical.

- A. Maternity Leave: The College will provide one term leave at full pay for the term during or immediately following the birth of the child when the leave is taken because of a faculty member's own serious health condition (childbirth). The faculty member will be expected to teach three courses in the other term of the academic year.
- B. Adoption Leave: The College will provide one term leave at full pay for the term during or immediately following the adoption of the child for the faculty member with primary responsibility for the care of the child after the adoption. The faculty member will be expected to teach three courses in the other term of the academic year.
- C. Parental Leave: The College will provide a one-course reduction during the term in or after the birth or adoption a child for a faculty member who is not eligible for the Maternity Leave or Adoption Leave described above.
- D. Medical Leave: The College will provide a maximum of twelve weeks of pay when the leave is taken because of a faculty member's own serious health condition (other than childbirth). Pay will commence on the first date of the disability. Such paid leave shall not extend the total amount of the leave available.
- E. Under all other circumstances, family and medical leaves are unpaid.

Benefits During Family and Medical Leave

A faculty member is eligible to continue with health benefits during the leave (by paying his/her required contributions) under the same conditions as would have been applicable if the faculty member had been employed during the leave period. The faculty member is responsible for the full premium payment of other insurance benefits that may be continued during family and medical leave. The faculty member is required to contact the College's Benefits Manager to make arrangements to pay any employee contributions.

Short-Term Family Leave

In addition to the leave provided above, a faculty member shall be entitled to take unpaid leave not to exceed four hours in any 30-day period and not to exceed 24 hours in any 12-month

period. The leave must be taken in a minimum of two-hour segments and may be taken for any of the following purposes:

- A. To participate in preschool or school activities directly related to the academic educational advancement of the faculty member's child, stepchild, foster child, or ward who lives with the faculty member, such as a parent-teacher conference.
- B. To attend or to accompany the faculty member's child, stepchild, foster child, or ward who lives with the faculty member or the faculty member's parent, civil union partner, spouse, or parent-in-law to routine medical or dental appointments.
- C. To accompany the faculty member's parent, spouse, civil union partner, or parent-in-law to other appointments for professional services related to their care and well being.
- D. To respond to a medical emergency involving the faculty member's child, stepchild, foster child, or ward who lives with the faculty member, or the faculty member's parent, spouse, civil union partner, or parent-in-law.

A faculty member shall make a reasonable attempt to schedule appointments for which leave may be taken under this section outside of regular work hours. In order to take leave under this section, a faculty member shall provide the Provost and Dean of the College with the earliest possible notice, but in no case later than seven days before leave is to be taken except in the case of any emergency. In this subsection "emergency" means circumstances where the required seven days notice could have a significant adverse impact on the family member of the faculty member.

Faculty Spouse/Partner Support and Family Privileges

<u>The Office of Human Resources</u> is available to work with spouse/partners to make connections with area employers including regional educational institutions, corporations, and businesses.

A faculty member's spouse/partner and children are invited and encouraged to attend all activities on campus that are open to the public. Crossett Library will provide borrowing cards free of charge to a faculty member's spouse/partner and children.

A faculty member's spouse/partner and a faculty member's children age 14 years old or older accompanied by a parent or guardian with a valid ID card are permitted in the Meyer Recreation Barn and to use any equipment in the facility, including the Rock Wall. No other children are permitted in the facility Meyer Recreation Barn. ID cards will be provided by the Office of Student Life.

Budget Process

The Office of the Provost and Dean requests budget proposals from the faculty discipline groups towards the end of the fall term. Faculty are asked to discuss at their discipline meetings any new curricular initiatives or additional budgetary needs they may have for the following fiscal year. This includes the following budgetary areas:

- Operating Budgets: day-to-day budgets that run the studios, labs and offices.
- **Small Equipment Budgets**: items under \$1,000 each that are infrequently purchased, such as easels, electronic thermometers, small projectors, scanners, tablets, etc.
- Academic Capital Expenditures: items \$1,000 or more each, such as computer equipment for studios or labs, microscopes, lighting kits, etc. This does not include faculty laptops; these are managed by Information Technology. If a faculty member has a question about his/her laptop, they should contact Information Technology.
- **General Capital Expenditures**: studio, lab, and classroom upgrades and construction repairs (i.e., new lighting, work tables, lockers, etc.)
- **Instructional Software**: any upgrades or new software required to run the studio/lab equipment.

Faculty will be asked to provide a written narrative as to the reasoning behind each budgetary request, For capital expenditures, each discipline group is asked to prepare a detailed list of the requested items, prioritize each request, and explain how the item will impact teaching and learning at the College.

Proposals for the next academic year are typically due at the end of the current fall term. The Office of the Provost and Dean will review and organize all of the budget proposals, providing a draft compilation of the capital expenditures to the Academic Policy Committee (APC). A select subcommittee from APC and the budget director in the Office of the Provost and Dean review the full range of these requests and determine a final recommendation. The operating budget will be reviewed by the Provost and Dean and the Vice President for Finance and Administration; capital and small equipment, and furniture requests will be reviewed by a committee made up of the Vice President for Finance and Administration, staff, and faculty. Final approval of the budgets is made by the Board of Trustees at their meeting in June. The Office of the Provost and Dean will notify the discipline groups of the approved budgets. The Office of the Provost and Dean will assess all older equipment replaced by new capital equipment for possible use elsewhere on campus. If an approved request is no longer valid or needed, the funds that were allocated for that request will be returned to the general capital expense budget for future re-allocation. The same applies to any funds remaining after the purchase of an approved item.

Reimbursement for Meals and Travel for Faculty

Bennington College follows the IRS Publication 463 regarding reimbursement of travel, entertainment, and car expenses. Primarily, the College will reimburse these expenses (including any sales or other relevant taxes) provided they are reasonable and appropriate, authorized and College-related in nature, and are properly documented. Any questions regarding what is and is not reimbursable may be directed to the faculty member's program coordinator or to the Office of the Provost and Dean.

Meals and Beverages

Faculty members are, from time to time, asked to entertain a guest speaker, a faculty candidate for an open position, or other invited guests. Faculty also periodically organize a discipline retreat or other College-related meetings. The College will reimburse meal and beverage charges, up to \$30 per person (this includes alcohol or other beverages) provided the following information is submitted to the Business Office with a completed and signed reimbursement form:

- Itemized/detailed receipt
- Names of those who attended
- The purpose of the meeting/meal

Any amount over \$30 per person must be pre-approved by the Office of the Provost and Dean in order to be reimbursed. Faculty may give their program coordinator all itemized receipts and related paperwork for the program coordinator to process and submit to the Business Office.

Travel

Faculty may need to make travel plans as part of an internal faculty grant or other College-related event. Wherever possible, faculty are asked to be prudent in their choices, and make the least expensive and most reasonable arrangements. Specific examples of reimbursable expenses include:

- Air Travel: price of a coach class plane ticket
- Train or Bus: when more convenient and less expensive than a coach plane ticket
- Personal Automobile: tolls, parking fees, and the current College mileage rate
- Rental Car: up to and including a full-size car
- Lodging: moderately-priced room accommodation
- Meals: when not included in conference registration fees and not to exceed \$50 per full day; itemized receipts are to be submitted

Expenses not considered for reimbursements include alcoholic beverages purchased outside a meal, snacks, and minibar items.

Receipts must be received by the Office of the Provost and Dean within 30 days of the expense for reimbursement.

Crossett Library Resources for Faculty

Faculty are encouraged to browse the Library's <u>webpage</u> to learn about the ways in which the Crossett Library provides faculty support and resources, such as online research guides, writing tutors, interlibrary loans, and book/periodical purchase requests, to name a few.

ACADEMIC POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Evaluating Student Work

Integral to a Bennington education is a close connection between faculty and students, and one expectation that follows from this is that faculty will be able to evaluate students throughout each term in multiple ways as needed: through written evaluations on papers, through verbal comments in a group critique, through a discussion of work in an office meeting, or via email in response to work submitted electronically.

There are two set moments in the term for individual student feedback at mid-term and end-of-term. In addition, faculty should complete an Academic Concern Form for any student doing marginal or poor work at any point in the term. These forms are available online on the Faculty Resources webpage. Concern Forms are part of a student's internal record, but do not appear as part of the student's transcript. Once the form has been submitted, a copy is sent to the student, the student's advisor, and the Office of the Provost and Dean.

Mid-Term Student Evaluations

Faculty should structure specific work into their courses that can be individually evaluated. At mid-term, each student must receive feedback either in written form or through individual meetings. It is highly recommended that students in their first term at Bennington receive written mid-term evaluations. Faculty are encouraged to submit an Academic Concern Form at the mid-term point for any student doing marginal or poor work. A "Concern" notice can provide a student the opportunity to improve on his or her initial performance as well as alert the Office of the Provost and Dean and the student's advisor of the student's academic difficulties.

Final Narrative Evaluations

At the end of the term, all faculty must submit a narrative evaluation for each student. This narrative evaluation summarizes a student's work in 100 words or less, and is intended for an external audience of graduate school Office of Admissions, employers, and for fellowship and scholarship applications. The comments in the evaluation should address the student's participation in class, how well they achieved their own and the class objectives, their attendance, and their overall progress. A useful guide to these criteria is the four P's: Participation, Performance, Progress, and Presence. It is expected that faculty will make generous use of the space provided to inform students of the details of their performance and progress.

The Final Evaluation includes a judgment of Pass, comparable to (A - C), Marginal Pass, comparable to a (C- or D), and Fail. No credits are given for classes not passed. While evaluations are not routinely mailed to parents or guardians, the College may do so at the written request of a student.

Faculty will receive evaluation submission instructions via email from the Office of the Provost and Dean. Faculty must submit the evaluations by the due date.

Grades

Students may also elect to receive letter grades (A, B, C, D, F) in individual courses, in addition to Narrative Evaluations, by requesting them through the online <u>Letter Grade Request</u> form during the first two weeks of each term. Students will receive a Grade Point Average (GPA) based on any courses where letter grades have been assigned. However, it is suggested that a minimum of two years or four terms of 58 continuous grades be used for a GPA if that GPA will be used for graduate schools, scholarships, fellowships, or other purposes. It is not possible to request grades retroactively.

If a student might apply to a post-graduate professional program or to graduate school, we suggest they opt for letter grades for at least four terms during their time at Bennington. Students who might pursue graduate work internationally are strongly advised to take letter grades for all courses. Additionally, if a student receives a scholarship or grant that requires a GPA, they should request letter grades.

Class Attendance

Critical to Bennington's educational philosophy is the principle of active learning. Attendance and engagement in the classroom, under the guidance of Bennington faculty, are therefore essential components of the learning that takes place at the College. Consistent and attentive class attendance is simply required for the successful completion of coursework here. Missing classes, for whatever reason, fundamentally alters the nature of courses at Bennington. Course instructors set their own attendance policies (i.e., how many absences are possible) within the general policy that attendance in class is mandatory. The policies are reflective of the importance of being present in class as a participant in discussion, in hands-on experiences and interactive content, which cannot be duplicated outside of the classroom. In the event that a student must miss a class, the student should notify the instructor in advance. Notification of absences does not mean that absences are excused. If an extended absence is anticipated or there is a personal emergency, the student must also notify the a member of the Office of the Provost and Dean, who will notify instructors and the faculty advisor as appropriate. Missing class for any reason does not exempt a student from completing work for that class. Students may fail classes if they do not attend the required number set by the instructor involved, regardless of the reason for the absence. Students who begin a class late (add the class after it has begun) are generally considered absent for the classes they missed. In addition, students who miss two weeks of classes for any reason (including personal and family emergencies) are normally not able to meet course objectives, and therefore are not able to pass the course and may be required to stop attending the course. Depending on the circumstances, a student may be permitted to withdraw from the course after the withdrawal deadline.

The Health Services staff does not give medical excuses for missed classes. For those rare cases when students are unable to contact their advisor due to incapacitation, medical emergencies, or hospitalization, Health Services staff will make a member of the Office of the Provost and Dean aware of the student's absence and the projected date when the student will return to class. It is the student's responsibility to initiate a conference with the instructor to discuss making up work missed and to make up work to the instructor's satisfaction. A student who has been hospitalized must contact the Director of Health Services or the Director of

Psychological Services, prior to the student's anticipated return to the College, with documentation from their attending physician stating that the student is capable of independently managing their own health and safety, full-time academic work, and daily living needs, including personal care and nourishment, as is the expectation for all students. Students are not permitted back on campus without this documentation. The Director of Health Services and/or the Director of Psychological Services will consult with the Office of the Provost and Dean as as appropriate to the circumstances.

Appealing an Evaluation or Grade

If, after considerable reflection, a student thinks that a final evaluation or grade is inaccurate, the student should normally first discuss the matter with the faculty member. If the matter is not resolved after this discussion, the student may appeal the evaluation in writing to the faculty member, with a copy to the Dean of Studies, stating specifically the nature of the inaccuracy. The dean will forward the student's appeal to the appeals committee, which may proceed as it deems appropriate to consider the appeal. The decision of the appeals committee is final. An appeal must be sent to the faculty member as stated above by the end of the term following that of the evaluation or grade in question. It is not possible to appeal an evaluation only because a student disagrees with a faculty member's assessment of the student's work.

Incomplete Coursework

All coursework at Bennington College must be completed before the end of the term in which the course was offered/took place. Exceptions may be made to this rule as follows: students who are unable, for documented health reasons or other serious circumstances, to complete the work of a course during the term in which it is offered may ask the instructor and the Office of the Provost and Dean for approval to complete the course after the end of the term. **Candidates for graduation are not eligible for Incompletes.**

- 1. The student must confer with both the instructor and the Office of the Provost and Dean to request an Incomplete before the end of the term. Students need to determine, in consultation with the Office of the Provost and Dean and their instructor, whether the course is eligible for an Incomplete. In situations where an incomplete is possible, the student must fill out an Incomplete Form and obtain the instructor's signature; it is the responsibility of the student to return the form to the Office of the Provost and Dean.
- 2. The student must provide acceptable written documentation of the health situation.

Please note: A student who misses two weeks of a class for any reason, including a health reason, is normally not able to meet the expectations of the course and therefore is not eligible for an Incomplete. A student may be given a failing grade in the class or be allowed to withdraw from the class, depending upon the situation.

The Office of the Provost and Dean will consider granting Incomplete status in a course only after these steps have been completed, only with the agreement of the instructor, and normally only if the student requests the Incomplete before the end of the term in which the student is registered in the course. Work in a course that has been granted Incomplete status is normally

due a month after the last day of class (refer to the academic calendar for specific dates) unless the student, instructor, and the Office of the Provost and Dean make other arrangements at the time the request is granted. This deadline also applies to students who either withdraw or take a leave following the end of the term. If Incompletes are not completed by the deadline, instructors evaluate the students on the work received. Extensions on Incompletes are not granted. All Incompletes must be completed/resolved prior to the start of the following term.

Academic Progress and Academic Standing

To proceed successfully through Bennington, a student must meet the academic requirements outlined in this handbook. Concurrently, students must progress adequately each term, move through the curriculum with broad goals for achieving a liberal arts education and, within that context, with the more focused goals of developing both an area of primary interest and the ability to do advanced work in that area. Academic advising is central to this process and active participation in advising makes it possible for students to make appropriate choices in their program of study.

Academic Progress

Academic progress at Bennington is both quantitative and qualitative. Bennington's evaluation of academic progress is in accordance with federal regulations and is completed by the Office of the Provost and Dean at the end of each term in four ways:

- 1. By determining the number of credits a student has earned in a term, in an academic year, and cumulatively. Please see the Quantitative Standard below.
- 2. By reviewing a student's cumulative number of Pass, Marginal Pass, and Fail evaluations, and grades, if applicable. Please see the qualitative standard below.
- 3. By requiring satisfactory completion of Field Work Terms, generally required annually from each student enrolled for the full academic year.
- 4. By requiring timely submission and acceptance of a student's academic Plan.

After each academic term, student records are reviewed for academic progress as noted above. Students who do not meet satisfactory progress standards are notified (along with their families, when permitted by law). Students who are at risk of academic progress difficulties remain in Good Standing but receive a notation of "notice." Students facing more severe challenges to their academic progress may be placed on academic warning or may be dismissed. A student may appeal academic dismissal as described below. Explanations for each designation of academic standing follow the sections on quantitative and qualitative standards.

Quantitative Standard

Success in meeting the quantitative standard is evaluated by measuring cumulative pace, which is the term used to describe the ratio of a student's cumulative credits earned versus cumulative credits attempted; it measures how quickly a student is progressing toward graduation within the expected amount of time.

Bennington students must complete their undergraduate degree in 10 terms (160 attempted credits) or fewer.* In order to assure that this will be the case, a certain cumulative pace must be maintained from term to term. Each term, a fulltime student is expected to take and complete 16 credits.

When calculating cumulative pace, therefore, the number of credits attempted per term is always set at 16 for full-time students, even if a student has registered for more or fewer credits in a given term. The only exception to this is for students who have been granted, by the Office of the Provost and Dean, an accommodation of a disability in the form of a reduced course load. Students granted an accommodation in the form of a reduced course load are still expected to complete their undergraduate degree in 10 terms (160 attempted credits) or fewer, unless this is adjusted in the form of an additional accommodation.

According to federal regulations, students who complete fewer than a certain percentage (between 75 percent and 80 percent, depending on term standing) of the total expected credits, will not maintain the necessary cumulative pace to graduate within the maximum amount of time allowed and will lose good academic standing. The chart below details the minimum number of credits needed at the end of each fulltime term at the College in order to maintain the necessary cumulative pace.

TERM	CREDITS REQUIRED to maintain minimum cumulative pace
1	12
2	24
3	36
4	48
5	62
6	74
7	90
8	103
9	116
10	128

In addition, at the conclusion of any term, any student earning a pace of 50 percent or below for the term (e.g., earning 8 or fewer credits in a single term) may be placed on academic warning or be dismissed from the College.

Upon approval from the advisor and the Office of the Provost and Dean, a full-time student may be permitted to take a reduced course load of 12–15 credits for an occasional term, with the understanding that credits will be made up in future terms. Of course, a student's cumulative pace toward graduation is affected when fewer credits are taken in any given term.

Students may apply for part-time status. This status means that a student is registered for fewer than 12 credits in a term. For these students, the number of credits attempted for the purposes

of calculating cumulative pace is the number of credits for which a student has registered at the end of the term's drop-add period.

Credits earned before attendance at Bennington or elsewhere while in attendance at Bennington and transferred in count as both credits attempted and credits earned in the pace calculation.

Please note: In accordance with federal regulations, any withdrawal from the College, regardless of the reason, after the term has started will result in zero credits earned out of 16 attempted and cumulative pace calculations will have to be adjusted accordingly.

*This limit does not mean that a student cannot take a leave or withdraw for a period of time; it simply means that a student cannot attend for more than 10 full-time terms.

Qualitative Standard

A Pass (P) reflects satisfactory work and is equivalent to a range of performance from C to A+.

A **Marginal Pass (MP)** does not reflect satisfactory progress, but the student will receive credit for the course. An MP is the equivalent of a D- to C-grade.

A Fail (F) means that the student will not receive credit for the course.

Students will generally lose good academic standing (see below) or be dismissed from the College if they fail six or more credits in a given term (for full-time students) or half a program (for part-time students). A failure in a four-credit course combined with a marginal pass in one or more other courses in a given term will also generally result in the loss of good standing or dismissal from the College, as will a term containing 6 or fewer credits of full passes (e.g., 10 credits of MPs and 6 credits of Ps). Students' performance over the course of their time at the College will always be taken into consideration when assessing whether or not they meet the qualitative standard.

Any student who has academic difficulties in any course should discuss the problem with the instructor as soon as possible. Students should also bring the problem to the attention of their faculty advisor. The student also may discuss these difficulties with a member of the Office of the Provost and Dean.

In addition, students are required to submit Plan essays on time and have an approved academic Plan in place by the end of their fourth term; therefore, timely submission and approval of a student's academic Plan is considered when evaluating qualitative progress. A student will generally lose good standing if a Plan is not approved, a Plan is deferred twice, a Plan is not in place at the end of a student's fourth term, or a Plan is not progressing well. A student who fails to submit a required Plan essay in any given term will also generally lose good standing (see below).

In accordance with federal regulations, students are expected to have a cumulative average of C or above (or the equivalent) by the end of their second year. However, a student may have passed several courses in a particular area of study but still not be deemed able to pursue advanced work in that area; these decisions are made through the Plan process and with individual faculty members. In such cases, the student will be advised to propose another area of study and/ or will be advised that one or more extra terms are necessary for graduation; in some cases the student may be dismissed from the College.

Academic Standing

The Office of the Provost and Dean determines each student's academic standing after considering academic progress as described above. Any student whose work is not satisfactory or who has not submitted a Plan on time and obtained timely approval of a Plan, or who has not successfully completed the FWT requirement, may be placed on academic warning or be dismissed from the College.

Typically, students are placed on warning at the conclusion of a term, but a student may be placed on warning at any time. Dismissal decisions are made by the Dean of Studies in consultation with the faculty as needed. Students who have been dismissed must have permission, in advance, from the Director of Campus Safety to visit campus.

Good standing. All students enter Bennington in good standing. However, a student will be placed on academic warning or be dismissed from the College if satisfactory cumulative pace is not maintained, or a satisfactory number of classes and Field Work Terms are not passed, or Plans/Plan essays are not submitted and approved when required.

Notice. Students in Good Standing may receive a notation of "notice" in order to alert them and their advisor that they need to pay particularly careful attention to their academic progress. Students with a "notice" designation are still considered to be in good academic standing.

Academic Warning. In order to return to good standing, students placed on academic warning are expected to pass 16 credits with no marginal passes, C minuses, Ds, or Fs. In addition, students are expected to submit their Plan on time and have it approved during the term, as well as satisfy FWT requirements for the term. Students on academic warning must also maintain the necessary cumulative pace to be returned to good standing at the end of the term. Students who do not return to good standing following a term of academic warning will be dismissed. Normally, only one term of warning is permitted.

Academic Probation. A student who has been dismissed following a term of academic warning can appeal for a term of Academic Probation (see Appeals section below). In accordance with federal regulations, students on probation are required to work with a member of the Office of the Provost and Dean and faculty advisor to complete a Satisfactory Academic Progress Plan (SAP Plan) for regaining and maintaining satisfactory academic progress. SAP Plans must be drafted before students return for their term of probation and given provisional approval by a member of the Office of the Provost and Dean. The SAP Plan must be reviewed (and may be

revised) by a member of the Office of the Provost and Dean and faculty advisor at the beginning of the term of probation and must be signed by the student after such review/revision. Students who fail to complete a SAP Plan for probation, whose SAP Plan is not approved, or students who do not successfully complete the requirements set forth in the SAP Plan will be dismissed from the College.

Good Standing – Satisfactory Academic Progress Plan (SAP Plan). In accordance with federal regulations, students who successfully complete a term of academic warning or academic probation but are unable to regain the required minimum cumulative pace after just one term will continue on a SAP Plan until they regain a satisfactory pace. Students who only minimally meet the expectations to return to good standing from academic warning may be placed on a SAP Plan for the term following warning. Students following a SAP Plan must meet the terms of their SAP Plan; those who do not will be dismissed from the College.

Appeals following academic dismissal. Students who have been dismissed may submit an appeal to return for a term of academic warning or probation (if dismissed following a term of warning), which shall be determined by the Appeals Committee at its discretion. The Dean of Studies will advise the student in writing of the Committee's decision, which is final, with no further appeal. Normally, appeals are submitted within one year from the date of dismissal. Circumstances that may provide the basis for such a request include serious injury or illness, or the injury, illness, or death of a parent or sibling. The appeal to return on warning or probation must explain why the student did not achieve satisfactory academic progress and describe what has changed in the student's situation to allow the student to achieve satisfactory academic progress during a term of warning or probation. Successful appeals will illustrate or provide concrete evidence that one's situation has changed. The College may require additional materials following the review of an appeal. If an appeal is not taken or is not granted, the student is dismissed. Students are normally limited to one such appeal during their time at the College.

Faculty Course Evaluations

The course evaluation process is facilitated by the Student Educational Policies Committee or SEPC. SEPC is comprised of students elected by the student body to represent the interests and concerns of discipline and program groups.

The SEPC body and its officers oversee the course evaluation process, though the production and tracking of evaluation forms is handled by the Office of the Provost and Dean.

The process has three components: 1) Election of an SEPC class representative for every class (and every tutorial with 3 students or more); 2) Mid-term discussion; and 3) End-of term discussion and completion of Course Evaluation Forms.

Election of SEPC Class Representative

At the end of the add/drop period, two weeks into the term, faculty are asked to reserve 5 minutes of class time for election of a class representative.

Many faculty recommend leaving the room for the election so that students can undertake this democratic process on their own terms.

Students elect both a class representative and an alternate. Faculty are asked to see that these names and signatures are recorded on a form provided by the Office of the Provost and Dean and to then return the form via campus mail to the address provided.

Mid-Term Discussion

Faculty are asked to reserve 20 minutes of class time around the mid-term mark (before or after Long Weekend) for a discussion about the progress of the class. This meeting time is intended not as an evaluation, but as a conversation about class goals, student success, assignments, projects, readings, and workload.

A variety of discussion models are in practice:

- The faculty member conducts the discussion, posing particular questions about progression of the class thus far.
- The faculty member reserves class time for discussion and leaves the room. The class representative facilitates a discussion about the class and takes notes, which he/she reports to the faculty member.
- The most commonly used model is as follows: The faculty member provides the class representative with a list of particular questions about class progress and leaves the room. The class representative facilitates the discussion and takes notes which he/she reports to the instructor. The faculty member discusses the class response with the class, either immediately after the mid-term meeting, or during a subsequent class.
- The faculty member generates a written questionnaire. The faculty member also
 provides time for mid-term discussion to be facilitated by the class representative.
 The class representative takes notes which he/she reports to the faculty member.

In general, faculty are encouraged to frame the discussion to help students focus their comments on the work of the class and their progress.

End-of-Term Discussion and Course Evaluation Form

Packets of course evaluation forms are distributed during the 12th week of the term to each faculty member's mailbox.

Faculty are asked to provide 20 minutes of class time for the end-of-term discussion on or before the second-to-last class of the term. Faculty are asked to deliver the packet of evaluation forms to the class representative and leave the room. As the packet instructions indicate, class representatives are encouraged to have the class complete the written evaluation form prior to the class discussion.

The class representative facilitates a discussion about the progress of the course and takes notes on student feedback. The class representative then writes a summary of the discussion to be read back to the class during the next class period. Faculty are asked to provide 5 minutes of class time for this summary report review.

Class evaluation forms and discussion summaries will be forwarded to the faculty member at the conclusion of the term once student evaluations have been completed. Copies of course evaluation forms will be kept in the faculty member's confidential file and, where appropriate, for a faculty member's next performance review. The summary discussion page is not retained in the faculty member's file.

Faculty members should feel free to contact the Office of the Provost and Dean with any questions or concerns after reviewing their course evaluations.

Tutorials

Tutorials are an opportunity to develop special research projects or areas of focused study for those students who have demonstrated the ability to work independently. Given the demands on faculty time, faculty members are expected to reserve tutorials for those particular situations where supplemental courses are essential to a student's plan or where focused study broadens the curriculum for small groups doing advanced work within a discipline. Faculty are not expected to offer tutorials each term, but are rather encouraged to reserve tutorials for special situations. Visiting faculty are not expected to offer tutorials.

Generally tutorials are for students doing advanced work in a discipline and, therefore, not appropriate for first-year students. First-year students are sometimes admitted into group tutorials in their second term. All students are welcome to approach faculty to propose a tutorial topic; all faculty are free to say no. On occasion a faculty member will want to work with a student or group of students on developing ideas or work begun in a class. Certain disciplines have created small group tutorials or advanced projects classes to meet the need of upper-class students working on various projects. Most students (with the exception of graduate students) should not register for more than one tutorial in a given term. Tutorials can be offered for 1-4 credits.

To apply to offer a tutorial, faculty must fill out the application available at the Office of the Registrar and submit it to the relevant Curriculum Coordinator. Faculty should, of course, only propose tutorials in areas in which they have some expertise. The Coordinator will then review the application, follow up on any concerns, and forward the application to the registrar. If approved, the registrar will then add the course to the student's schedule; if not approved, the registrar will return the application to the Curriculum Coordinator for clarification and discussion.

Ideally, all tutorial requests would be initiated before registration. In practice, the system can still accommodate applications given during the first week of each term. Late applications jeopardize students' academic status and financial aid, since both are tied to enrollment status.

Any questions about whether or not to offer a tutorial in a particular subject should be brought to the relevant Curriculum Coordinator.

Co-Teaching Guidelines

Occasionally two or more instructors co-teach classes. There are various reasons for co-teaching – shared interests, curricular initiatives, the supervision of advanced work, the development of new courses and programs – and there have been numerous models for co-teaching here at Bennington. Co-teaching can be fruitful both within and across disciplines.

The act of co-teaching is valued here. However, it is understood that a co-taught course for which each instructor receives full credit must work for the curriculum as a whole, the curriculum for each discipline, and the potential number of students served. Therefore, if two faculty members wish to co-teach a class with each of them receiving full credit for the course, they must submit a proposal to CPC and the Office of the Provost and Dean each year before the start of the spring term. Proposals should include a course description, a maximum number of students, and a description of how the faculty members propose to share the teaching load. These proposals will be considered based on the overall curricular needs of the faculty and student body at that time.

Instructors who only plan to be in the classroom half the time (i.e. only the first hour of a two-hour class, or only the first 7 weeks of a full-term class) will receive half credit each, and these classes need not be formally proposed. Any co-taught class for which the instructors do not seek co-teaching credit does not need to be formally proposed to CPC and the Office of the Provost and Dean and can simply be entered in the curriculum.

FERPA Information for Faculty

The Federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act ("FERPA")

FERPA (the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act), also known as the "Buckley Amendment," applies to all educational agencies or institutions that receive funds under any program administered by the Secretary of Education, including Bennington College.

FERPA protects the confidentiality of student information and gives post-secondary students the following rights: to see the records that the College is keeping on the student; to seek amendment to those records and in certain cases append a statement to the record; to withhold the disclosure of the student's educational records except for specific situations set forward in the law and regulations; and to file a complaint for any alleged violation with the federal agency with jurisdiction over FERPA.

Records Protected by FERPA

FERPA applies to a student's "education records," which are records directly related to a student ("personally identifiable") and maintained by the College. "Education records" are not limited to academic records. Examples include advising notes; admissions information; financial

documents; disciplinary records; disability accommodations; biographical information such as social security number, gender, nationality, and race or ethnicity; grades, test scores, courses taken or in progress; and course work, such as papers, exams, and communications that are part of the academic process between a student and a teacher, or between a student and other students in the class. Education records can exist in any form, such as handwritten, typed, computer generated, videotape, audiotape, film, microfilm, microfiche, and e-mail. In general, if personally identifiable information has been recorded in any way by College personnel, that record has become an "education record" covered by FERPA.

There is an exemption for personal notes maintained by and for a sole individual as a memory aid and not made available to **any other person.** However, once those notes are shared, they become an "education record." In addition, please keep in mind that such "sole possession notes" can always be subject to discovery through a court subpoena in the case of legal action.

There is also an exemption for "directory information," which at Bennington includes: name, campus address and email, campus telephone number, dates of attendance, class, previous institutions attended, major field of study, honors and awards, degrees conferred (including dates), past and present participation in officially recognized sports and activities, date and place of birth, and photograph. However, each student is permitted to "opt out" of the permission to disclose directory information by notifying the College in writing. Accordingly, no release even of directory information should be made without first clearing the release with the registrar, where the records are kept of students who have exercised their right to withhold disclosure of directory information.

What is Not a "Record"

A personal observation that has not been recorded in any way is not a "record" and is not protected by FERPA.

Student Right to Review

The first important requirement of FERPA is that students have the right to review their educational records upon request. Accordingly, unless the record is a "sole possession note," the student is entitled to see it.

Prohibition Against Disclosure

The second important requirement of FERPA is the obligation to protect the confidentiality of student information. Each individual faculty member has a legal obligation under FERPA to protect the confidentiality of student educational records in that faculty member's possession. Student educational records may not be released without the prior written consent of the student. Student information stored in electronic format must be secure and available only to those entitled to access that information. There may be no posting of student grades, and papers should not be passed back to students in such a way that any student could view the grade of any other student. In addition, grades should not be provided via email due to confidentiality concerns about this method.

In addition, each faculty member is permitted access to student information only for legitimate use in carrying out his or her duties as a College employee. You are not entitled to have access to student information simply by virtue of your position as a faculty member, but only to have access to the specific student information that is **necessary to carry out your own duties.** Also please keep in mind that disclosure even to another student at the College is a disclosure prohibited by FERPA. In addition, disclosure to any other College employee who does not have a legitimate educational purpose in having access to that particular student's record is a disclosure prohibited by FERPA.

Parents

Parents are also third parties to whom you may not release education record information about a student, without the prior written consent of the student. Parents are sometimes confused about how FERPA applies in the post-secondary context, because parents of primary and secondary students have the right of access to their children's education records, while parents of post-secondary students do not. The College keeps records on a student-by-student basis of which students have consented to release of education records to their parents. In some instances, the College may, but is not required to, disclose student information to parents under an exception for permissive disclosure when the student is financially dependent for tax purposes on a parent. However, no faculty member should attempt to make a determination whether such an exception applies, and it is generally the College's practice not to make disclosures from a student's educational records involving academic matters to parents without the student's written consent. Accordingly, if you should receive a request from a parent, you should state that you are not permitted to release student information without clearance from the registrar with whom you should then consult to see if the student has a consent on file. Any additional questions from parents about their children's information should also be directed to the Dean of Studies.

Other Third Parties

Should you be contacted by local, state, or federal law enforcement (such as the FBI doing a background check), you may not release any information without clearance from the registrar which will need to have the student's written consent on file before you may release any information. Likewise, should you receive a subpoena or other court process, you should not respond without first consulting the Dean of Studies and registrar.

Concerns About Student Health or Safety

If you have a health or safety concern, you should bring this to the attention of the Dean of Students and the Director of Campus Safety. FERPA allows disclosures of education records to others within the College who have legitimate interests in the information; those interests include the health, safety, and well-being of students, the effective functioning of the College, and the safety and security of the campus. The dean can consider whether further disclosure is permitted under a FERPA exception for certain health or safety emergencies. Also, keep in mind that your own personal observations of a student's behavior or condition are not educational records and thus are not regulated by FERPA. So, if you have a concern about a student, first and foremost, report it.

For Questions or More Information

FERPA contains many restrictions and particularized exceptions, and the law is governed by a complex set of regulations and compliance guidelines, not all of which are covered in this informational discussion. If you have any question in any individual situation, please do not try to resolve the issue yourself, but discuss it immediately with the registrar.

Academic and Artistic Ethics Policy

As it Pertains to Students

Plagiarism and all kinds of academic and artistic dishonesty are contrary to the educational philosophy and aims of Bennington College and are absolutely prohibited. At Bennington, instances of plagiarism and dishonesty affect all students and all faculty, since cheating compromises the spirit of self-governance and the community's commitment to work. The College will not tolerate the disregard of our common academic endeavors by those who fail to take intellectual and ethical responsibility for their work. Academic and artistic dishonesty is not merely an issue for a specific student, class, or faculty member; it is a College-wide issue with institutional consequences.

Plagiarism is submitting the work of others as one's own, whether intentionally or not, and includes failure to acknowledge sources. Proper acknowledgment of sources is the basis of academic honesty. Such sources include words, ideas, data, and images from books, articles, Internet sites, and so on. Sources of images must be noted in the same way that textual material is cited, according to discipline standards. Ample material is available in the library to help students determine how to cite sources properly. Any students with questions about this should consult reference librarians, peer writing tutors, or faculty members for guidance.

Academic dishonesty also includes the submission of the same work for different classes without substantial revision and prior permission from the faculty. Academic dishonesty may also include projects or assignments done collaboratively but not approved in advance by faculty as collaborative work. Whenever academic or artistic dishonesty is discovered or suspected, the following procedures are followed:

- 1. The instructor consults with the Associate Director of Academic Services or the Dean of Studies about the particular situation.
- 2. The instructor normally then discusses the situation directly with the student.
- 3. If the instructor is satisfied that the suspicion is unfounded, no further action is taken.
- 4. If, after discussing the situation with the student, the instructor finds that plagiarism or another kind of dishonesty has occurred, the instructor again speaks with the Associate Director of Office of Academic Services or the Dean of Studies. The faculty advisor will also be consulted. The Associate Director or Dean of Studies then determines the specific consequences for the student. The student will receive a letter outlining the offense and the consequence; the letter will be copied to the student's faculty advisor and included in the student's permanent file. Students normally fail courses in which they have committed any form of academic dishonesty. Students may not withdraw from a course to avoid failure as a result of academic dishonesty.

One or more of the following consequences may be imposed in accordance with the discretion of the Associate Director or the Dean of Studies:

First Offense: Failure in the class, academic warning, suspension, or dismissal. **Subsequent Offense:** Failure in the class, academic warning, suspension, or dismissal. **Appeals:** Appeals of the decision in cases of suspension or dismissal must be made in writing to the Provost and Dean of the College or designee within 10 days of the letter of notification. Decisions of the Provost and Dean of the College or designee will be in writing and are final.

Copyright Policy

Guidelines

Faculty are expected to determine fair use of the work they want copied. Following the steps below and working closely with the program coordinator, faculty can perform a fair use analysis by using a form established for this purpose. Program coordinators have copies of the form available.

The analysis consists of determining four factors that can favor or oppose copying the materials. The four fair use factors are:

- 1. The purpose/character of the use
- 2. The nature of the work to be used
- 3. The amount/substantiality of the portion used
- 4. The effect the copying will have on the market

Step One. Faculty determine if the work to be copied is:

- In the Public Domain
- One chapter from a book
- One article from a journal
- One poem or excerpt
- A few graphs, charts, illustrations, or photos

If the answer is:

YES: Okay to copy for classroom use. Copyright notice and citations must be completed and handed into the program coordinator along with the work to be copied.

NO: The faculty member completes the Fair Use Analysis form and moves to Step Two below.

Step Two. Faculty determine if the selections favor fair use by performing the fair use analysis.

If the answer is:

YES: Okay to copy for classroom use. Copyright notice and citations must be completed and handed into the program coordinator along with the work to be copied.

NO: The faculty member must get copyright permission; this is done through the program coordinators.

Proper Citation and Copyright Notice

All copying must include the citation information listed below as well as the page numbers of the work to be copied. If the front and back of the title page is copied, all the required information will be included:

- Journal/book title or article/chapter title
- Name of author(s)
- Volume or issue number
- Publisher; place of publication; copyright date/owner

Internet/Computer Use

Similar guidelines apply to audiovisual materials, internet web sites and other sources protected by copyright. If a faculty member intends to use any of these materials in the classroom, he or she is asked to consult with the Office of the Provost and Dean or Dean of the Library regarding the fair use guidelines for the specific materials.

Disability Accommodations

Pertaining to Students

Accommodations and Support

Bennington College provides reasonable accommodations to otherwise qualified students with documented disabilities when such accommodations are requested and necessary to ensure equal access to College programs and facilities. This is in compliance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, and the Americans with Disabilities Amendments Act of 2008 and similar state laws. A "disability" is a physical or mental impairment which substantially limits a major life activity, such as caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, seeing, hearing, eating, sleeping, walking, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating, and working, or other activities as defined by law.

Bennington College does not offer programs or courses specifically designed for students with disabilities. However, in addition to reasonable accommodations, the College offers all students a variety of support services such as peer writing and math tutors, faculty advising, academic advising, and health and psychological services. These services, along with small classes, a focus on the individual, and easily accessible faculty, create an environment where students thrive and learn to take increasing responsibility for their own education, their own work, and their own lives.

Service Animals and Emotional Support Animals (ESA)

The College recognizes the importance of service animals, as defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act (ADAAA), and the broader category of "Assistance Animals" under the Fair Housing Act. An emotional support animal (ESA) is not a pet. It is an animal that provides physical and/or emotional support to individuals with disabilities.

The College allows individuals with disabilities the use of a service animal on campus to facilitate their access to and participation in the College's programs and activities. The College is also committed to allowing emotional support animals (ESA) necessary to provide individuals with disabilities an equal opportunity to use and enjoy College housing.

The College has established strict policies regarding the presence of pets and animals on campus. The College will, however, consider a request by an individual with a disability for reasonable accommodation from the no Pet/Animal policy to allow an ESA that is necessary because of a disability. A request for an ESA may be denied as unreasonable if the presence of the animal: 1) imposes an undue financial and/or administrative burden; 2) fundamentally alters College housing policies; and/or 3) poses a direct threat to the health and safety of others or would cause substantial property damage to the property of others, including College property.

Individuals wishing to request such an accommodation should follow the process outlined below.

Requesting Accommodations

All students with disabilities seeking academic accommodations are encouraged to work with the Office of Academic Services to request reasonable accommodations and discuss the various supports available. All students with disabilities seeking housing and/or meal plan accommodations are encouraged to work with the assistant Dean of Students in the Office of Student Life. However, the disclosure of a disability and a request for accommodations is an individual choice and one that the College can encourage but not require. Therefore, students wishing to apply for accommodations for documented disabilities, whether permanent or temporary, must take the initiative in completing the Disability Accommodation Request Form, which is made available to all students upon acceptance to the College and available at any time online or in the Office of Academic Services, Office of Student Life, or the Office of the Provost and Dean. Students are expected to work cooperatively with the Office of Academic Services and Student Life to determine appropriate accommodations. Academic Services and Student Life work with students, faculty, and staff to determine, provide, and arrange for reasonable accommodations, which are reviewed and approved on a case-by-case basis.

Requests can be made at any time; however, in order for accommodations to be approved prior to the start of the term, completed forms and documentation must be submitted by June 1 for fall term and January 15 for spring term (these dates vary for Master of Arts and Post Baccalaureate programs). Requests made after the deadlines or during the term will be reviewed and determined as quickly as possible. Returning student housing assignments are made during the spring term prior for the fall. Returning student housing accommodations have a deadline of March 15. Housing assignments are made for the full academic year; therefore, housing requests made after the June 1 deadline may be more difficult to fulfill. Further, housing and dining accommodations are reviewed on a yearly basis. Accommodations are not retroactive; accommodation requests granted after the beginning of a term will not apply to previous work in courses for that term or previous terms. The Office of Academic Services and/

or Student Life will work with students to ensure access to approved accommodations following appropriate review and will assess the efficacy of the accommodations provided.

Once accommodations have been approved, students will receive confirmation in writing and are responsible for communicating with faculty and staff about approved accommodations and working with them to make arrangements for accommodations, where it is necessary to do so. Students are also responsible for communicating with faculty and the Office of Academic Services and/or Student Life about the effectiveness and delivery of the approved accommodations.

Providing Documentation

Requests for accommodation must be as specific as possible and must be accompanied by a completed Disability Accommodation Request form and any equivalent report(s) (e.g., a copy of a psychoeducational evaluation) the student wishes to provide. Completed forms and supporting documentation should be forwarded or provided to:

Office of Academic Services (academic accommodations) academicservices@bennington.edu (802) 440-4400

Assistant Dean of Students (housing & meal plan accommodations) studentlife@bennington.edu (802) 440-4330

Grievance Policy for Students with Disabilities

Students who think they have been denied equal access to the College's academic programs, resources, or other services because of a disability may file a detailed written grievance with the Dean of Studies as soon as possible after the alleged discrimination occurred, but in no event more than 60 days thereafter. In order to establish the basis for such a grievance, students must have filed a Disability Accommodation Request Form and supporting documentation with the Office of Academic Services and/or student life and discussed their request with a member of Academic Services and/or Student Life. The College encourages students to first speak with a member of Academic Services and/or student life in order to resolve their complaints informally. If informal steps do not satisfactorily address the complaints or there is a complaint about a member of Academics Services or Student Life, students may file the written grievance described above to the Dean of Studies, who serves as the College's Section 504 Coordinator. The Dean of Studies will investigate the complaint and issue a finding, normally within 30 days. The Dean of Studies' contact information is:

Dean of Studies

provostanddean@bennington.edu (802) 440-4400

Appeals Process

Students who are not satisfied with the Dean of Studies' decision may file an appeal by contacting the Provost and Dean of the College. Appeals must be submitted within 7 business days of when the student receives notice of the Dean of Studies' decision. The Provost may affirm or modify previous decisions made and/or may send the matter back for reconsideration by the Dean of Studies. The Provost and Dean will communicate a final decision to the student in writing.

Field Trip Guidelines

Field trips are defined as required course activities that take place off-campus. They are sponsored by faculty and organized in cooperation with their program coordinator.

Faculty should notify program coordinators at least two-weeks in advance to allow time to reserve a van, hire an approved College driver, and make any other preparations for the trip. The earlier a trip is planned, the greater the chance vans and drivers will be available.

Every attempt should be made to utilize College-owned vehicles and drivers for field trips.

All faculty who drive students, either in a College-owned vehicle or in their personal vehicles, must be an approved driver as outlined in the College Driver Policy.

All field trips require the following:

- Signed release forms for every student participating on a trip, whether or not they are
 riding in College-owned vehicles. The faculty member should ask their program
 coordinator for the blank release forms to distribute to their class.
- A roster of students going on the trip and the name of the faculty sponsor. This information is entered into the online *Field Trip Information Form* by the program coordinator and is shared with Campus Safety and the Office of Student Life.
- Approval of the Office of the Provost and Dean for all overnight trips.
- The faculty member should be on the trip with the students the entire time. The College understands there may be extenuating and infrequent circumstances where the faculty member can only meet the students at the event itself. In these cases, the faculty member must select a responsible chaperone to take attendance to/from the trip site. This may be a student from the class itself. Campus Safety must be given the chaperone's contact information.
- College-owned vehicles left in the condition in which they were found.

Please note: Faculty are asked to send a notification via e-mail to their program coordinator and the students when the status of a course event is changed from a field trip, which is required of all students, to optional. The above requirements will also apply to optional off-campus course events if: a) the College is paying for any part of a trip; or b) a College-owned vehicle is being used for the trip.

Students may not drive other students in their personal cars for field trips.

Short-Term Study

Field Work Term Courses

Faculty may wish to sponsor a class/trip during non-term times (called Short-Term Study) either abroad or within the United States. Interested faculty should contact the Provost and Dean of the College at least one term in advance of the proposed trip for approval. If approved, the proposal is given to the Office of Field Work Term, who will assist the faculty member with the necessary preparations.

GENERAL COLLEGE POLICIES

Benefits Information

Medical, Dental, Vision, Life, Long-Term Disability Insurance

Bennington College offers a comprehensive benefits program to eligible faculty members. Currently, the benefits program includes the following: medical insurance, dental insurance, vision insurance, life insurance, supplemental life insurance (for employee, spouse/partner and/or dependents), long term disability insurance, health-care/dependent care/adoption assistance flexible spending accounts, retirement plan, and educational benefits. Please note that some of these programs may have employee eligibility and contribution requirements and note also that all benefit programs are subject to change from time to time. The benefits information provided is intended only as general information for eligible faculty of Bennington College and is not in any way intended to be a confirmation of benefits enrollment or eligibility. The College reserves the right to change benefit plans and programs at any time. Current benefits are not a guarantee of future benefits and not all employees are eligible for the same level of benefits. Please contact the benefits manager in the Human Resources Office for detailed information on all benefit programs offered. When planning for retirement see Human Resources.

Workers' Compensation Notice and Procedures

Campus Safety

Vehicle Operation and Parking Regulations

Drug-Free Workplace

Smoking Policy

Weapons Policy

Inclement Weather Policy

Financial Whistleblower Policy and Procedures

Pet Policy

<u>Sexual Misconduct, Sexual Harassment, Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, and Stalking Policy</u>

Nondiscrimination Statement

Bennington College is committed to a policy of nondiscrimination as defined under applicable state and federal laws, including but not limited to Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex in education programs and activities. The College does not discriminate in its programs and activities on the basis of race, color, age, sex, religion, disability, national or ethnic origin, sexual orientation, gender identity, HIV test, or any other legally protected status. Complaints of any type of unlawful discrimination that do not fall within the Sexual Harassment, Sexual Misconduct, Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, and Stalking Policies and Procedures should be directed Heather Faley, the Director of Human Resources, whose office is located in Faculty Row 2, whose telephone number is 802-440-4423, and whose email address is hfaley@bennington.edu. The Director of Human Resources shall adjudicate any complaint of unlawful discrimination in a prompt and equitable manner, which will permit the complainant to make a written submission, to respond to any submission by the person complained against, to be given a written decision by the Director of Human Resources, and to take a written appeal to the Vice President for Finance and Administration, whose decision, which will be rendered in writing, will be final. Except in extraordinary circumstances, such grievance shall be determined by the Director of Human Resources within 60 days of the filing of the complaint.

Please note: Any complaint determined by the Title IX Coordinator to fall within the jurisdiction of the <u>Sexual Harassment</u>, <u>Sexual Misconduct</u>, <u>Domestic Violence</u>, <u>Dating Violence</u>, <u>and Stalking Policies and Procedures</u> must be brought pursuant to that policy.

Americans with Disabilities Act

College Communication Services and Equipment

All College communications services and equipment, including all messages in any form transmitted or stored by them, are the sole property of the College. Messages or information transmitted over or saved on the College communications equipment and services are not private or confidential to the employee, and the College may access and monitor employee communications and files as it considers appropriate. Communications equipment and services include mail, electronic mail ("e-mail"), facsimile, telephone systems, personal computers (including laptop computers), computer networks, online services, internet connections, computer files, telex systems, video equipment and tapes, tape recorders and recorders, pagers, cellular phones, bulletin boards, and newly developed communications technology as it is introduced into the College system.

Misuse as described in this policy, or transmitting, retrieving, or storing harassing, discriminatory, fraudulent, defaming, threatening, or illegal material, including without limitation illegal pornography, using College communication systems, services, or equipment, is prohibited.

Upon the termination of employment, an employee must return all College computer and other communications equipment to the College. If the employee has stored on any such equipment material that is not the property of the College, it is the employee's responsibility to make a copy of such material for him or herself; this will not be done by the College.

Political Activity Prohibited

As a tax exempt organization under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, the College cannot intervene, or use its resources (including its communications system, services, or equipment) or permit its resources to be used, to intervene in any political campaign on behalf of, or in opposition to, any candidate for public office. Violation of this prohibition could cause the College to lose its tax-exempt status or incur excise taxes.

While the College is prohibited from taking an institutional stance or role in elections, individuals within the College community retain their personal rights of self-expression. However, no College employee while on duty performing his/her job for the College may, whether officially or unofficially, and whether or not the message is marked "Personal" or otherwise, and whether or not the message is sent to all, or only to one or more College employee, transmit on any part of the College communications, system, services, or equipment, any message or other material which is intended to, or may be interpreted as, participating or intervening in any political campaign on behalf of, or in opposition to, any candidate for public office. Examples of activities which have been interpreted by the Internal Revenue Service to be such intervention in a political campaign include:

- Endorsing or opposing any candidate for public office.
- Donating or contributing to any candidate's campaign.
- Participating or engaging in political fundraising events.

- Publishing or distributing statements for or against any candidate, including doing so by sending or forwarding any such statements over the College computer, email, and internet access system.
- Engaging in any other activity that favors or opposes any candidate for public office. February

Other

College communication services and equipment may not be used for any other purpose that is illegal, against College policy, or contrary to the College's best interests. Equipment such as computers, photocopiers, facsimile machines, etc., should be used for College business only and may not be used for the transaction of unrelated business or for personal gain.

Jury Duty Leave

If jury duty fees (not including reimbursement for expenses) are returned to the College, faculty on jury duty will continue to receive their customary salaries. Otherwise, faculty will be given an unpaid leave. The Business Office and Office of the Provost and Dean should be notified before the jury duty begins.

Educational Opportunities

Employees and their families may take courses at the College and apply for tuition scholarships through the Tuition Exchange Program. Information about both of these benefits is explained below.

Courses at the College

After having been continuously employed at the College for one year as a full-time employee (or in accord with the current schedule published by the Business Office of the College for certain part-time salaried employees), with employment continuing, an employee or her/his spouse/partner is permitted to take one undergraduate course per term, tuition-free, at Bennington College if there is room in the course. The registrant must obtain permission from his/her department head and the instructor and must obtain prior approval from the registrar. An employee may take certain courses (one undergraduate course per term), tuition-free, at other institutions with whom Bennington College has reciprocal tuition agreements, presently the Community College of Vermont. Additional approvals and course restrictions/limitations may apply to enrollment at one/all of these institutions; please check with the Registar for additional details. It is expected that an employee's course attendance will not unduly affect the office's work schedule. Employees must make up any time taken for class attendance.

If an employee wishes to be considered a matriculated student at Bennington College, she/he must apply to the Office of Admissions for entrance in accordance with regular admissions standards and procedures. Please note that the accumulation of individual courses cannot be combined to lead to a degree for a non-matriculated student.

Children of full-time employees who have been employed at the College for two years or more as of the date of the start of the initial term may take up to two individual courses per term at the College free of tuition charges, provided that the registrant obtains permission from the Provost and Dean of the College and the Vice President for Finance and Administration, that there is room in the course, and that permission has also been obtained from the instructor. Children of full-time employees who have worked at the College for two years or more as of the date of the start of the initial term and who have been accepted by the Office of Admissions in accordance with regular admission standards and procedures, may matriculate for the Bennington degree and receive tuition benefits equal to the cost of tuition minus any federal and state grants for which they are eligible. Room, board, and all other charges must be paid by the employee or student. Further financial assistance from College or federal (loans, work-study) sources is awarded on the basis of financial need. Families must apply in a timely manner for all state and federal aid. No tuition benefits will be available for students who do not apply for these funds (see the Office of Financial Aid for further information). Details regarding the tax implications of these benefits may be obtained from the Business Office.

Tuition Exchange Program

Click <u>here</u> to learn more about the College's tuition exchange program.

Campus Housing Policy

Bennington College has a limited amount of campus housing available to accommodate regular faculty and staff, temporary employees, guest faculty, and visitors sponsored by the College. The allocation of housing is reviewed and coordinated by different administrative offices in response to varying needs with the overall objective of serving the bests interests of the College. The Business Office establishes rents and other housing charges.

Allocation of housing is based on a number of considerations, with the primary objectives of temporarily facilitating the transition of faculty and staff new to the Bennington area, accommodating long-distance commuting faculty and staff, and providing on-campus residency for some employees in conjunction with their employment responsibilities. In addition, the College provides housing during non-term periods for faculty members and personnel engaged in programs sponsored by Bennington (e.g., Masters in Writing) as well as other groups contracting for use of College facilities (e.g., Chamber Music). There also may be periods when accommodations normally used for faculty and staff must be set aside to meet student housing needs or for other reasons as determined by the College.

All housing arrangements are extended to tenants at the sole discretion of the College. The use of campus housing by faculty and other employees is not intended to be permanent, and the College determines the length of residence for all tenants. The College assumes no obligation to continue providing housing to any tenant beyond that period specified in writing by the College. Tenants who have had extended stays longer than three years in campus housing should expect to be required to release their accommodations to others when housing supply is inadequate to meet the College's space needs or for any reason determined by the College. The Office of the

Provost and Dean of the College will notify faculty tenants one year in advance if they need to move.

College housing accommodations vary from separate houses with 3-4 bedrooms to apartments with 1-4 bedrooms and individual rooms in shared houses. Because the housing situation changes from term to term, based on College and individual needs, housing arrangements generally are made for periods of one year or less.

Housing is intended to be for the occupancy of the designated faculty or staff member and his/her spouse/partner and immediate family. While tenants may have guests, College housing is not to be used to provide accommodations to others on a regular basis.

Generally, housing is made available through one of the following arrangements: lease of up to one-year duration; rental on a weekly, monthly or term basis; or daily (rooms only) at a per diem charge. The Business Office normally sets these charges at the end of the spring term for the following academic year.

Tenants leasing houses and apartments are expected to provide their own furnishings. The College may under certain conditions, however, provide basic furnishings for tenants who do not have their own. Some housing arrangements may include utilities.

Tenants residing in rooms or apartments on a per diem, weekly or monthly arrangement must remove their possessions and turn in their keys during all periods not covered by the tenant's occupancy arrangement. The College reserves the right to use such premises for accommodating other persons during periods not covered by the arrangement. (The daily rate will be charged for each day a tenant's premises is not available for this purpose because the tenant's personal possessions have not been removed.) Likewise, tenants residing in any housing facility for a full term must remove their possessions at the end of the term. Because housing not on an annual lease may be used to accommodate other tenants during the year, no storage of personal effects is permitted unless approved by the College.

Tenants are expected to exercise reasonable care in their use of College housing and to comply with any lease terms or other written or oral instructions. Any damage to premises during occupancy by a tenant will be collectible as additional rent and deducted from the tenant's salary check. Bennington College reserves the right to require an advance deposit from incoming tenants to cover damage or unpaid charges. Tenants living in shared housing also are expected to be respectful of others residing in the facility. Tenants with pets are required to pay a pet deposit that is determined by the Business Office each year. This will be applied toward any pet-related damage. The tenant will continue to be financially responsible for additional charges, if any, due to pet-related damage. The pet deposit will be returned to the tenant if there is no pet-related damage at the end of the lease.

The College requires tenants to vacate College housing concurrent with a termination of employment. All tenants must comply with relevant College policies, including this Housing

Policy, the Pet Policy, and the Smoking Policy. Tenants may be required to vacate housing during a lease or rental period for failure to comply with housing or related policies, or for inappropriate use or damage to the premises. Tenants may not sublet or arrange to have other persons occupy their housing in their absence without the written permission of the College.

College Driver Policy

Faculty may drive students on field trips or other College-related activities provided they have been approved to do so. To become an "approved" driver, all faculty must do the following, regardless of the vehicle to be used:

- Complete a *Department of Motor Vehicles Driving Record* consent form. The program coordinators have these available:
- Provide the program coordinator with a copy of their valid driver's license.

In addition, if faculty want to drive a College-owned vehicle, they must also successfully complete the mandatory online defensive driving course arranged through Campus Safety. Alternatively, faculty may use a personal vehicle to drive students; to do so they need to provide a copy of valid automobile insurance to their program coordinator. Please note that all liability will rest with the faculty member and their insurance carrier when they use their own vehicles for field trips.

The Provost and Dean's Office will collect the consent form, driver's license, and proof of insurance, if applicable, and provide them to the College's insurance carrier for review.

It is recommended that all newly-approved drivers using College-owned vehicles take a brief informational road test with Campus Safety to familiarize themselves with driving a 15 passenger vehicle. This can be done just prior to driving the vehicle and takes about fifteen minutes.

Finally, please note the following expectations of approved drivers. They:

- Shall observe and obey all state, local, and College motor vehicle laws and regulations;
- Must report any license suspension or revocation to the Office of the Provost and Dean immediately upon receiving such notification;
- Are subject to initial and periodic Department of Motor Vehicle driving record checks and are required to sign any required documents to release such information to the College. The College will determine at its sole discretion to permit a faculty member to drive for College-related events in situations where the driving record check includes potentially unsafe documented driving infractions.

Exhibitions of Art on Campus

At Bennington College, we have the opportunity to live and work in an environment of inspiring artistic expression. Art in open public spaces should be an honest meeting between the ideas of the artist and the expectations of the audience. As is the case with all public displays of art, there comes with this opportunity a continuous and lively search for a shared sense of responsibility and understanding. The following is a list of available spaces on campus and the process for requesting their use.

An <u>Installation/Alteration Request Form</u> must be completed for any art installation, sculpture, or project that will impact the appearance of campus. This form will be reviewed by the <u>Land and Buildings Use Committee</u>.

VAPA Sculpture Overlook and Galleria

Good for work seen on intimate level, including small sculptures and site-specific work. Lighting is a mixture of natural and artificial. Process for Showing: Students sign up with Visual Arts program coordinator.

Student Houses

Space depends upon the individual house. Lighting is a mixture of natural and artificial. Process for Showing: House Chairs or individuals complete a Land and Building Use Request form, available from the design and planning coordinator.

Dining Halls

A very public and highly visible space used by all members of the community and guests. These are not good spaces for three-dimensional work. General lighting is a mixture of natural and artificial. Process for Showing: Request forms are available from the design and planning coordinator.

Barn West (Hallway: Barn 100 to the Business Office)

This is a narrow corridor with light from the east facing windows, which is a public and visible space used by all members of the community. Process for Showing: Request forms are available from the design and planning coordinator.

Crossett Library

Secure cabinets for books, prints, drawings and photographs, along with wall spaces for two-dimensional work. Process for Showing: Proposals to the <u>Dean of the Library</u>.

Outdoor Installation Sites and Buildings (other than VAPA)

Varies, depending on locations ranging from courtyard spaces to lawns, etc. Works need to be adaptable to all weather conditions and consideration must be made for safety concerns. Process for Showing: Proposals to the Land and Building Use Committee, applications available from the design and planning coordinator.

Reserving Spaces on Campus for Events

Click <u>here</u> to connect to the spaces on campus that may be reserved for events and to each person or area that is responsible for assisting/finalizing the reservations.

HANDBOOK REVIEW PROCEDURES

Sections of the handbook are periodically reviewed and revised by administration, committees, and faculty. At any point, faculty or staff may propose review and revision of sections of the handbook by contacting the Executive Assistant to the Provost and Dean and Faculty Affairs Coordinator, who will forward proposals to the appropriate parties. Proposals for review may be made at any time and do not have to be in sync with a review period. The overall design of the faculty handbook is stewarded by APC together with various members of the Office of the Provost and Dean, including the Provost and Dean, Dean of Studies, Director for Budget and Administration, and the co-chair of CSC.

Each section is reviewed by the committees listed below. However, any changes to the handbook often involve conversations between multiple parties depending on the policy.

Educational Principles

OPD, APC, BOT, CSC

Faculty Committees

OPD, CSC, APC

Faculty Support and Development

OPD, CSC

Academic Policies and Responsibilities

OPD, APC, CPC

General College Policies often overlap with the student handbook, and are overseen by multiple parties.

In the event of a vacancy in the Office of the Provost and Dean of the College, the President will appoint an appropriate academic officer to take his or her place wherever the Provost and Dean of the College is given duties under the policies set forth in this Handbook or in other faculty policies.